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Acknowledgement of Country 
Yarra Plenty Regional Library acknowledges the 
Wurundjeri peoples of the Kulin Nation, the traditional 
owners of this Country, paying respect to Elders past, 
present, and emerging, who have been an integral part 
of the region’s history. We acknowledge the leadership 
of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander communities 
and the right to self-determination in the spirit of mutual 
understanding and respect. We share with you our 
support of the Uluru Statement from the Heart.

Recognition of Diversity and Inclusion 
Yarra Plenty Regional Library is committed to equality, 
inclusivity, and respect. We welcome and respect 
everyone in our communities irrespective of gender, 
sexuality, ethnicity, ability, or generation.



our Vision
Informed creative communities: 
connected, empowered, and well.

our Purpose
To provide opportunities for our diverse 
communities to read, learn, create, 
connect, and live well. Supported 
by equitable access to collections, 
technology, programs, and welcoming 
and safe spaces.

our Role
To facilitate: working with our diverse 
communities to support and realise 
opportunities.

To connect: creating places where 
everyone is welcome, a safe place for all.

To listen: ensuring our communities are 
part of everything we do.

To build capability: empowering our 
diverse and vibrant communities to 
participate.

To share and create stories: ensuring 
our local stories are created, shared, and 
heard.

our Values
Respect for all: promoting connection 
and fairness.

Integrity: honest and trustworthy.

Service: community focussed, 
accessible, valued by our customers and 
team members.

Empower: supportive, innovative, and 
inclusive of diversity of thought.

Contact Us
Bag 65 Bundoora VIC 3083 
(03) 9408 7888 
ypmail@yprl.vic.gov.au

mailto:ypmail%40yprl.vic.gov.au?subject=
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About us

Yarra Plenty Regional Library (YPRL) 
is a service that welcomes everyone. 
Our branches are safe spaces where 
communities can come together to 
meet, learn, create, and work. Every 
day, thousands of residents from 
the Banyule City Council, the City 
of Whittlesea, and the Nillumbik 
Shire Council read a book, find the 
information they need, connect with 
friends and family, learn or discover, 
work or study, meet new people or 
simply relax — all at their local library.

Our libraries are open to everyone, from 
the very young attending their first 
storytime session to the young-at-heart 
coming together to tell stories over a cup 
of tea. We see researchers and students 
sitting across the table from job seekers 
and entrepreneurs. We provide services 
to people from any culture or age group 
and at every stage in life. We are there 
for our community, making a difference 
to people’s lives. We are proud of our 
service and of our exceptional staff 
who make it possible to support the 
communities of Banyule, Whittlesea, and 
Nillumbik.

Read on for the story of how we evolved 
and adapted throughout a year of 
constant change, supporting each other 
and our community through the second 
year of the COVID-19 pandemic. Whether 
managing lockdowns or the vaccinated 
economy and beyond, we are unwavering 
in our commitment to remain relevant 
and ensure we meet the needs of our 
rich, vibrant, and diverse communities 
every day.

YPRL has 506,751 items in the 
collection which laid end to end 
would stretch over 94 kilometres, 
enough to go around all 9 of our 
library branches!
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Read on for the story of how we evolved 
and adapted throughout a year of 
constant change, supporting each other 
and our community through the second 
year of the COVID-19 pandemic. Whether 
managing lockdowns or the vaccinated 
economy and beyond, we are unwavering 
in our commitment to remain relevant 
and ensure we meet the needs of our 
rich, vibrant, and diverse communities 
every day.
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Message from the Chair

On behalf of the Library Board, I am 
pleased to present the 2021–22 Yarra 
Plenty Regional Library (YPRL) Annual 
Report. I welcome Mayor Cr Frances 
Eyre to the Board and thank departing 
Board Member Cr Natalie Duffy for her 
contributions.

This year, YPRL developed the new 
2021–25 Library Plan, taking a shared 
approach with feedback from the 
community, our Member Councils, and 
staff to inform our direction for the 
next four years. In partnership with our 
Councils, YPRL will continue to build 
community capacity for economic 
and social participation, prioritising 
knowledge and learning, connection, 
wellbeing, and organisational strength.

Disruption and change due to the 
pandemic continued during the year, 
with further lockdowns disrupting our 
services. We focused on the wellbeing of 
our communities by taking on a new role 
as vaccination ambassadors, providing 
information about vaccinations, 
supporting access to accredited health 
information, and hosting several pop-
up vaccination hubs in our branches 
with partners such as the Victorian 
Department of Health, Bubup Wilam 
Aboriginal Child and Family Centre, the 
Victorian Aboriginal Health Service, 
DPV Health, and the City of Whittlesea’s 
Multicultural Awareness of COVID 
Immunisation (MACI) project. We were 
also pleased to partner with Whittlesea 
Community Connections and Vodafone 
in a much-needed initiative to provide 
vulnerable families with free Wi-Fi 
hotspots to support remote learning 
during lockdowns.
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The beautifully refurbished Diamond 
Valley Library was officially reopened 
in February 2022, with upgrades jointly 
funded by Nillumbik Shire Council, 
YPRL, and the Victorian Government 
through a Living Libraries Infrastructure 
Program grant. The YPRL Board was 
also delighted to support the City of 
Whittlesea in hosting the Hon. Lily 
D’Ambrosio MP, Member for Mill Park, 
to officially launch the Mill Park Library 
Learning Garden. This $900,000 
Learning Garden and surrounds was 
funded by the Victorian Government’s 
Growing Suburbs Fund and the City of 
Whittlesea. 

The Board has continued to focus 
on providing inclusive and enriching 
services with new library strategies 
and frameworks supporting creativity, 
digital inclusion, and accessibility. Our 
underpinning principle of codesign has 
created opportunities to partner with 
young people to host Youth Takeovers of 
the library on Friday nights, and support 
families and children with programs 
such as Active Arvos, Baby Café and 
First Nations Storytimes. We have also 
continued to deliver the Libraries After 
Dark program, giving the communities 
of Mill Park, Thomastown, and Watsonia 
a welcome alternative to gaming venues 
as a place to socialise in the evenings 
until 10.00 pm.

I would like to acknowledge and thank my 
fellow Board members and our Member 
Councils for the significant role they 
play in the success of the Corporation, 
and thank the CEO and dedicated, 
hardworking library staff for their support 
and contribution. We are extremely 
fortunate to have such an engaged and 
collaborative team.

Cr Karen Egan 
Chair
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Message from the CEO

The COVID-19 pandemic continued to 
challenge us this year, but we persisted 
in finding new ways of delivering 
library services and reaching out to 
our communities. With lockdowns 
impacting a large period of 2021, our 
innovative digital programs, Click & 
Collect services, and our new library 
hubs ensured continuity of service 
throughout the year.

While our traditional library measures 
have been affected by mandated building 
closures, our online activity went from 
strength to strength with increased 
engagement in our digital library and 
online events. Our virtual storytimes were 
a favourite with our younger community 
and our Harry Potter events were booked 
out every time.

Since reopening in November, we have 
been excited to see our communities 
returning in increasing numbers. Our 
‘Return Yourself to the Library’ campaign 
has helped draw people back to their 
local library branches, with June figures 
showing onsite visitation at over 90% and 
loans at 95% of pre-pandemic levels.

As we move into this ‘new normal’, YPRL 
has been working closely with Member 
Councils to ensure that we provide the 
right library services in the right location, 
offering modern and welcoming spaces 
to all. YPRL has expanded our hub model 
— used so successfully to provide Click 
& Collect services through the inaugural 
hub at Hurstbridge — with a new hub at 
Galada Community Centre and a pop-up 
library hub at Donnybrook, in partnership 
with the City of Whittlesea. We have 
also worked closely with Nillumbik Shire 
Council to refurbish the Diamond Valley 
Library. We welcome the continued 
investment from the City of Whittlesea in 
the Mill Park Library with the expanded 
outdoor seating areas and the Learning 
Garden now complete, and the expanded 
carpark works nearing completion. We 
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have also been working closely with 
Banyule City Council on their plan for the 
new Rosanna Library, with construction 
expected to be finished in 2024.

A huge thank you is due to all the YPRL 
staff and volunteers for their adaptability, 
customer focus, and determination over 
the last 12 months, and to our many 
community partners for their valuable 
work throughout the challenges of this 
past year. I would also like to thank the 
Board for its commitment and foresight 
in supporting YPRL to develop library 
services fit for the future. My thanks 
also to all our staff who have worked 
together to create entertaining and 
thought-provoking events, contemporary 
collections, cutting-edge digital 
resources, and welcoming spaces for all 
of our communities. 

Jane Cowell 
CEO
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YPRL Board Members 2021–2022

Cr Alison Champion Cr Elizabeth Nealy

Cr Natalie Duffy Cr Karen Egan Cr Frances Eyre

Ms Lydia Wilson Ms Kate McCaughey
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July 2021– 
September 2021

September 2021 – 
December 2021

December 2021 – 
February 2022

February 2022 – 
June 2022

Banyule City Council
Cr Alison Champion Cr Alison Champion Cr Alison Champion Cr Alison Champion, 

Deputy Chair 
Cr Elizabeth Nealy Cr Elizabeth Nealy Cr Elizabeth Nealy Cr Elizabeth Nealy 
Ms Kath Brackett 
(ex officio) Director 
Community 
Programs 

Ms Kath Brackett 
(ex officio) Director 
Community 
Programs 

Ms Kath Brackett 
(ex officio) Director 
Community 
Programs 

Ms Kath Brackett 
(ex officio) Director 
Community 
Programs 

Nillumbik Shire Council
Cr Natalie Duffy Cr Natalie Duffy Cr Karen Egan, 

Deputy Chair 
Cr Karen Egan, 
Chair 

Cr Karen Egan, 
Deputy Chair 

Cr Karen Egan, 
Deputy Chair 

Cr Frances Eyre Cr Frances Eyre 

Ms Corrienne 
Nichols (ex officio) 
Executive Manager 
Communities

Ms Corrienne 
Nichols (ex officio) 
Executive Manager 
Communities

Ms Corrienne 
Nichols (ex officio) 
Executive Manager 
Communities

Ms Corrienne 
Nichols (ex officio) 
Executive Manager 
Communities

City of Whittlesea
Administrator 
Lydia Wilson, Chair

Administrator 
Lydia Wilson, Chair

Administrator 
Lydia Wilson, Chair

Administrator 
Lydia Wilson

Ms Kate 
McCaughey 
Director Community 
Wellbeing

Ms Kate 
McCaughey 
Director Community 
Wellbeing

Ms Kate 
McCaughey 
Director Community 
Wellbeing

Ms Kate 
McCaughey 
Director Community 
Wellbeing

Benjamin 
Waterhouse 
(ex officio) Manager 
Active and Creative 
Participation 

Anthony Traill, 
(ex officio) Manager 
Active and Creative 
Communities

Attendance at Scheduled and Special Board Meetings

Attendee Meetings
Cr Alison Champion 6/6
Cr Elizabeth Nealy 4/6
Cr Karen Egan 6/6
Cr Natalie Duffy 1/2
Cr Frances Eyre 4/4
Administrator Lydia Wilson 6/6
Kate McCaughey 5/6
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YPRL services at a glance

Our branches were open for 571.5 
hours each week and a further 
151.5 hours of services provided 
each week through our mobile 
library and hubs — enough time 
to listen to more than 70 audio 
books or watch more than 350 
movies on Kanopy

Harry Potter read 474 letters 
inviting him to Hogwarts

The Thursday 
Murder Club 
cracked the case 
245 times

We had 714,864 visitors to 
our library branches which 
averages to 4.5 visits from 
each household in our 
communities
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We held 2,050 
events with 40,472 
participants, averaging 
5 events and 110 
participants every day

We facilitated 
1,835,001 loans 
— an average 
of 13 loans for 
each library 
member (that is 
a loan every four 
weeks!)

12,019 people opened the YPRL 
app 283,917 times, an average 
of 777 times a day, looking up 
18,700 eResources and 
searching for their nearest library 
5,764 times

Our services saw 81,190 Wi-Fi 
connections — that is 16 times 
the number of stars visible in the 
night sky
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Year in review

outcome: Wellbeing
Help individuals and communities 
to better engage in, understand, 
and take positive actions to support 
their mental and physical health.

Public libraries across Victoria have a 
strategic focus on health and wellbeing, 
working towards the Libraries for Health 
and Wellbeing: a strategic framework for 
Victorian public libraries towards 2024 
(www.bit.ly/YPRL-LfHaW). YPRL plays a 
key role in supporting community health 
and wellbeing, through access to health 
information and experts, leisure reading, 
welcoming and inclusive programs and 
spaces that connect people and build 
skills, and support for early literacy 
development, which has strong links to 
better health outcomes in adult life.

Priority: Mental, 
physical, and social 
wellbeing 

Contribute to the wellbeing of 
our community through inclusive 
and safe programs, spaces, and 
opportunities, promoting health 
literacy, health and wellbeing 
programming and collections, and 
programs for those experiencing 
social isolation.

Through inclusive and engaging 
programs, collections, and spaces, YPRL 
supports the mental, physical, and social 
wellbeing of our communities. This 
includes both explicitly health-focused 
events, like writing for mental health 
programs or yoga sessions, but also 
many of our day-to-day activities. Book 
groups and discussion circles bring 
people together to share ideas, reading 
and crosswords keep brains active, 
storytimes and kids’ activities help 
parents and families connect while 
learning more about how to support their 
children, tech help sessions help seniors 
stay connected with distant family, and 
simply having a chat to friendly library 
staff provides social connection.

http://www.bit.ly/YPRL-LfHaW
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Services snapshot

Indicator Measure 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22
Loans Number 

of Items 
borrowed

3,237,186 3,103,974 2,291,906 1,391,280 1,835,001

Program 
attendance

Number of 
participants

197,511 176,926 132,941 30,555 72,299

Total 
visitation

Door count 1,585,093 1,556,371 1,147,140 537,335 714,864

Opening 
hours

537.5 537.5 537.5 628.0 723.0

Libraries After Dark
Libraries After Dark is an early-
intervention program that offers an 
alternative to gaming venues as a place 
to meet and connect with others in the 
evenings. Selected libraries across YPRL 
stay open until 10.00 pm on Thursday 
nights, providing a much-needed option 
for people at risk of being affected by 
gambling.

‘Provides books and 
information but more 
importantly it’s a place 
where I can go and feel 
completely comfortable 
and welcomed.’

Throughout 2021–22, when restrictions 
allowed, our Mill Park, Watsonia and 
Thomastown branches offered regular 
Thursday night programming that 
included gardening events, a retro disco 
and games night, live music, cooking 
demonstrations, First Nations tea tasting, 
art therapy, trivia, vintage tools, and cups 
of tea with chances to chat. These warm, 
welcoming, and inclusive nights help to 
build social connection and combat 
loneliness, especially for vulnerable 
members of our community. 
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Meeting Santa can be  
a sensitive thing
Our Sensitive Santa program is designed 
for children on the autism spectrum who 
find meeting Santa alarming — especially 
in noisy environments like shopping 
centres with long queues and crowds of 
people. It allows families to enjoy that 
special experience in a quiet, non-
threatening environment and have a 
magical one-on-one session with Santa. 
Volunteer photographers from Diamond 
Valley Photographic Society take photos 
that are then gifted to families on a USB 
to take home. For many families, it is the 
first time they have had a photo taken 
with Santa. We had 22 families from 
across the region participate in our 
Sensitive Santa program at Mill Park 
Library last Christmas. Diamond Valley 
Railway Inc. generously contribute the 
funding for this program. 

‘Thank you for a sensational 
experience. This experience 
is amazing, not only for my 
son on the spectrum, but 
also for his sister who misses 
out on lots of opportunities.’
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Physical wellbeing  
at the library
Our Active Arvos pilot program is 
designed to engage children in physical, 
mental, and social activities. Through 
activity sessions that combine games, 
dance, yoga, and mindfulness, children 
develop gross motor and coordination 
skills, exercise their memory and 
strategic problem-solving, and practise 
calming mindfulness.

This successful pilot at Mill Park Library 
has been delivered to at least 20 families 
every week. Feedback from parents 
indicate that their children love the 
opportunity to be physically active at the 
library rather than always sitting, and it 
offers safe and fun exercise options 
without the prohibitive cost of sports 
programs. Families often stay on after 
classes to continue playing in the 
Learning Garden and using the library.

‘Very happy place and 
makes studying more 
enjoyable for me.’
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Big Summer Read
Aimed at countering the ‘summer slide’ 
of literacy skills, the Big Summer Read 
encouraged primary school-aged 
children and their families to enjoy 
reading and maintain literacy levels 
across the summer holidays. The 
campaign ran from 1 December to 31 
January and participating families logged 
their reading records through Beanstack, 
an interactive app and website portal 
that tracks the number of minutes spent 
reading and the number of books read. 
More than 200 children engaged with the 
program, reading over 3,000 books.

We encouraged participation by 
providing Family Fun Bundles, available 
for collection across all branches. Family 
Fun Bundles began during lockdown 
and are a selection of themed picture 
books and easy activities, ready to ‘grab 
and go’. One of our activities aimed at 
building empathy skills was inspired 
by author R.J. Palacio’s Choose Kind 
Campaign. Our Leaves of Kindness 
activity invited children to create leaves 
with felt and craft materials and hide 
a message of kindness or wish for the 
coming year inside each leaf. The leaves 
were then pinned to cardboard trees in 
our branches and displayed to the public.

‘The library is essential to 
my family. We seek to foster 
a love of reading, curiosity 
and exploration. Through 
the library we can grow 
ideas, learn new things and 
enjoy a great read.’

This year, the Very Hungry 
Caterpillar ate 66 apples, 
132 pears, 198 plums, 264 
strawberries and 330 oranges
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 Library overview

Indicator 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22
Population: Regional 
(ABS estimates)

405,016 418,510 426,963 433,698 422,629

Total members 137,983 141,641 118,443 120,899 135,957
Members as % of 
population

34.07% 33.84% 27.00% 28.00% 32.17%

Active users 66,847 74,875 64,518 53,113 56,439
Mobile Library 
locations

13 13 13 13 13

Total collection items 464,670 407,465 403,799 436,944 506,751
New collection items 106,152 96,030 116,424 72,809 91,987
Inter-Library Loan 
requests

2,097 1,583 1,277 337 425

eCollection usage 409,748 473,749 549,086 587,028 547,682
Wi-Fi sessions 197,707 267,574 210,152 75,508 76,464
Public access internet 
sessions

242,710 191,218 131,834 37,998 42,941

Total eAccess 2,422,132 2,370,642 2,341,531 1,918,946 2,443,293
Total programs 7,377 7,726 4,383 1,613 2,209
Staff (EFT) 92.48 93.17 93.19 96.32 97.34

Intergenerational connection
Our Words to the Wise program invited 
young people to write letters to elderly 
community members who are 
housebound or living in aged care. More 
than 70 letters were delivered to five 
aged care facilities, with some writers and 
recipients keen to develop ongoing pen 
pal correspondence. The program was a 
valuable opportunity to nurture 
intergenerational connection and 
understanding, as well as fostering a 

sense of joy and belonging in our older 
members and demonstrating the power 
and value of volunteering for our 
younger members.
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‘I received a great drawing, 
card and note from Ned who 
is 9. I cannot tell you how 
much this meant to me. That 
this little fella took the time 
to write, draw and make 
something for me and other 
residents. Thank you, Ned.’

Robert (88)

383 sets of buckets were set up 
thanks to the Barefoot Investor 

Library usage

Location Members Loans Reservations Public 
access 

internet 
sessions 

Wi-Fi 
connections

Diamond Valley 7,705 74,874 21,079 1,154 2,300
Eltham 19,172 229,024 74,730 5,972 11,437
Ivanhoe 14,520 168,665 59,565 6,955 25,374
Lalor 15,736 74,189 16,534 8,221 6,049
Mill Park 23,380 228,390 54,410 7,837 12,072
Rosanna 9,734 130,402 51,103 3,175 5,786
Thomastown 7,354 41,471 12,539 3,098 4,247
Watsonia 11,300 154,649 58,637 5,512 7,124
Whittlesea 3,113 28,463 10,885 1,017 2,075
Mobile Library 3,807 49,963 10,033
Home Library 46 4,908 23
Outreach Vehicle 801 4,292 930
Digital members 19,289 520,287
Donnybrook Hub 278 98
Galada Hub 962 299
Hurstbridge Hub 6,204 3,418
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Priority:  
Connect to local 
experts 

Work alongside experts to bring 
the best to our local communities 
by inviting, including, and hosting 
wellbeing partners within our 
spaces, and partnering with 
member councils to deliver better 
outcomes.

We work closely with partners to expand 
our capacity and offer more to our 
communities. YPRL actively works with 
almost 350 community partners to 
provide quality programs, information, 
and services to our communities. We 
frequently host events run by our partner 
organisations in our library spaces, and 
we work closely with our three Member 
Councils to amplify their programs and 
messages. This is highlighted in our Baby 
Café programming where experts come 
in to discuss the challenges facing our 
local new parents.

Uncle Trevor (fourth from left) leading a Bush Trail Tour through the Rosanna Parklands

National Reconciliation Week
YPRL’s National Reconciliation Week 
programs offered our communities the 
opportunity to learn about First Nations 
culture and heritage firsthand and 
consider their own contribution to the 
journey of reconciliation. Highlights of the 
program include the Yarning Circle with 
Gunditjmara artist Aunty Karen Lovett, 
the Gresswell Forest walk with local 
Indigenous Elder Uncle Trevor Gallagher, 
and the Kinder Dreaming Storytime with 
Murri woman Monica Weightman. These 
events received hugely positive feedback 
from participants expressing a strong 
desire for more opportunities to learn 
from our First Nations peoples.

We offered a virtual reality cultural activity 
at Mill Park Library with the program Thalu 
in which participants were immersed in 
the mythology and cultural heritage of 
the Ngarluma people. Our online offerings 
included a commissioned article from 
local First Nations journalist Charles 
Pakana, who spoke of his firsthand 
experiences with Aboriginal leaders. 
A blog from local reconciliation group, 
Reconciliation Banyule, also invited the 
community to get involved.
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National Reconciliation Week
YPRL’s National Reconciliation Week 
programs offered our communities the 
opportunity to learn about First Nations 
culture and heritage firsthand and 
consider their own contribution to the 
journey of reconciliation. Highlights of the 
program include the Yarning Circle with 
Gunditjmara artist Aunty Karen Lovett, 
the Gresswell Forest walk with local 
Indigenous Elder Uncle Trevor Gallagher, 
and the Kinder Dreaming Storytime with 
Murri woman Monica Weightman. These 
events received hugely positive feedback 
from participants expressing a strong 
desire for more opportunities to learn 
from our First Nations peoples.

We offered a virtual reality cultural activity 
at Mill Park Library with the program Thalu 
in which participants were immersed in 
the mythology and cultural heritage of 
the Ngarluma people. Our online offerings 
included a commissioned article from 
local First Nations journalist Charles 
Pakana, who spoke of his firsthand 
experiences with Aboriginal leaders. 
A blog from local reconciliation group, 
Reconciliation Banyule, also invited the 
community to get involved.

National Reconciliation Week gave YPRL 
additional opportunities to engage with 
our local First Nations peoples, to 
discover how we can better meet their 
information needs. This engagement led 
to YPRL adding the Koori Mail to our 
collection, first at a few branches, then 
expanding it to be available in all nine 
branches.

‘I don’t read well. Never 
really liked books. Then I 
was given a talking book 
to listen to. Love listening 
to deadly books. The staff 
helped me download a book 
to my phone using images 
and now I love it.’ 

Local Indigenous Elder
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Annual Booklovers Festival
The annual YPRL Booklovers Festival 
was held in November 2021, and we used 
a COVID-conscious hybrid model with 
a program offering both online events 
and small, localised events. The aim was 
to connect local readers and writers in 
ways that felt safe while also allowing 
our community to reconnect. This year’s 
program emphasised mental health and 
wellbeing, amplifying marginalised voices, 
and exploring and borrowing from our 
collections.

The festival worked with new partners 
including Writers Victoria and City 
of Literature and extended existing 
relationships with our Member Councils 
as well as local writers and creative 
businesses to provide workshops. 
Activities included a Book Valet 
reader advisory service, local writer 
performances, daily local writer reading 
salons, and an intergenerational book 
discussion in conjunction with Wolf & Cub 
Review podcast. 

More than 400 people participated in or 
interacted with the online Booklovers 
Festival across both YPRL and partner 
platforms. We featured Melbourne and 
regional writers included Alice Pung, 
Stephanie Convery, Jack Chan, Zana 
Fraillon, Heidi Everett, Danny Silva 
Soberano, Gemma Mahadeo, and Amy 
Bodossian. The writing workshops 
focused on lived experiences of mental 
health and illness, how to use poetry to 
manage anxiety, using different forms of 
writing as a tool for self-expression, and 
ways to use language to help improve 
communication for both interpersonal 
relationships and job pathways.
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‘I have been going to 
the library all of my 
life. I would be lost 
without access to 
what it has to offer.’

Pop-up vaccinations  
at the library
YPRL is a COVID-19 Vaccine Ambassador 
in partnership with Public Libraries 
Victoria and the Victorian Department of 
Health, and we continue to actively work 
with all three of our Member Councils to 
promote and amplify vaccine messages 
and expert advice. During the year we 
hosted pop-up vaccination clinics at our 
Thomastown, Mill Park, Whittlesea, and 
Lalor branches to provide greater access 
to vaccination opportunities and vaccine 
information for our community.

Lalor Library hosted a pop-up clinic 
specifically for an Islamic women’s group, 
providing a culturally safe space for this 
community to get vaccinated. While 
Thomastown Library partnered with 
Bubup Wilam Aboriginal Child and Family 
Centre and the Victorian Aboriginal 
Health Service to support the First 
Nations COVID-19 Vaccination Program.

All four of our Whittlesea branches 
worked with City of Whittlesea’s 
Multicultural Awareness of COVID 
Immunisation (MACI) project on a 
vaccination pop-up program to 
encourage children’s vaccinations. The 
clinics were run in conjunction with our 
school holiday programs to facilitate 12+ 
Pfizer shots, as well as boosters for 
adults. MACI gave feedback that libraries 
were an excellent place to run clinics for 
children as they are welcoming and non-
threatening community spaces.

‘During COVID they 
were the only people 
bar my doctor I saw or 
spoke to for two years. 
They were my life line 
and didn't know.’



outcome: Connection
Create places and spaces for people 
throughout our communities to 
connect, belong and actively engage 
with each other.

With increased levels of loneliness and 
isolation post-lockdowns, libraries as a 
place to connect are more important than 
ever. YPRL provides welcoming, inclusive 
spaces where you can simply be, and 
offers a wide range of programming to 
engage and inspire. There are deliberate 
opportunities to meet like-minded (or 
quite different) people, or simply spend 
time amongst others.
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outcome: Connection
Create places and spaces for people 
throughout our communities to 
connect, belong and actively engage 
with each other.

With increased levels of loneliness and 
isolation post-lockdowns, libraries as a 
place to connect are more important than 
ever. YPRL provides welcoming, inclusive 
spaces where you can simply be, and 
offers a wide range of programming to 
engage and inspire. There are deliberate 
opportunities to meet like-minded (or 
quite different) people, or simply spend 
time amongst others.

Priority: 
Participation and 
belonging

Deliver places, spaces, and 
services that provide safe, 
accessible digital environments 
and programs, volunteering, and 
other opportunities to participate, 
and increased participation in our 
service.

This year we have given people more 
ways to connect than ever before. With 
more lockdowns in 2021, our creative 
and accessible digital programming was 
a lifeline for some, with ever-popular 
online storytimes, an Armchair Travel 
event taking you around the world from 
your own home, local history speakers, 
and much more. Click & Collect items, 
Family Fun Bundles of themed books and 
activities, activity packs, and materials 
for craft were all available for pick up 
from our foyers and kept people engaged 
and connected to the library and the 
wider world. After reopening, it has 
been wonderful to see so many people 
back enjoying our spaces in person and 
coming along to programs which have 
been designed with reconnection in mind.
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Library membership

Location Banyule Murrindindi Nillumbik Out-Area Whittlesea Total
Diamond 
Valley

1,352 7 5,878 173 295 7,705

Eltham 2,107 20 15,955 787 303 19,172
Ivanhoe 12,847 3 129 1,300 241 14,520
Lalor 103 3 56 868 14,706 15,736
Mill Park 520 39 261 718 21,842 23,380
Rosanna 9,146 1 130 328 129 9,734
Thomastown 70 1 22 500 6,761 7,354
Watsonia 10,243 7 288 390 372 11,300
Whittlesea 331 45 33 59 2,645 3,113
Mobile 
Library

242 6 1,819 31 1,709 3,807

Home Library 19 0 8 0 19 46
Outreach 
Vehicle

265 0 131 2 403 801

Library 
Support 
Services

4,650 66 1,363 8,173 5,037 19,289

41,895 198 26,073 13,329 54,462 135,957

135,957 library members —  
that is more than the crowd limit at 
the MCG. With 56,439 members 
borrowing a physical item this 
year — that is more than can fit 
inside Marvel stadium
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Welcoming back 
our volunteers
Our volunteer activities were reactivated 
in 2022 after a hiatus due to COVID-19 
restrictions. Compliance checks and 
training have been provided to ensure 
volunteers returned safely, and we 
continue our focus on ‘Reimagining 
Volunteering for Contemporary Australia’ 
to improve social cohesion. Volunteer 
activities continue to make a valuable 
contribution to building social 
connections in our communities and we 
thank all our wonderful volunteers for 
their contributions.

‘Volunteering has helped 
me to connect with the 
community… I have been 
able to meet new people, 
make new friends and 
engage in an activity 
that helps other people 
learn something new and 
socialise with others.’
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School Holiday Program
School holiday programs remain popular 
in every format and were even more 
important during lockdowns to help keep 
young learners connected and engaged. 
With restrictions in place, our September 
events moved online and included Click 
& Collect activity packs with online 
instructional videos, as well as activity 
packs that could be picked up from each 
branch foyer.

The April and June school holiday 
programs saw a big return to our 
branches for families with school-aged 
children, providing free fun close to 
home. Activities included a native animal 
incursion, Robogals robotics sessions, 
tie-dyeing, Australian Ballet workshops, 

LEGO® challenges, a The Wind in the 
Willows pantomime, Game Jam coding 
workshops in partnership with Banyule 
Nillumbik Tech School, performances 
from Carp Productions, Minecraft 
Madness, and a Harry Potter trivia night.
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Building bridges to cross 
the digital divide
The vaccinated economy brought many 
challenges to our communities, 
especially those who struggled with 
navigating the new digital requirements 
for entry to public venues. YPRL upskilled 
our staff and offered support in multiple 
languages so we could assist patrons 
with new requirements around QR code 
check-ins and providing proof of double 
vaccination through linking proof of 
vaccination certificates from Medicare to 
the Service Victoria app. This support 
was key to helping bridge the digital 
divide for many members of our 
community, including those with low 
digital literacy.

‘It connects us all. When 
the pandemic locked 
us down, knowing the 
library was looking out 
for us was wonderful.’

Homegrown Summer
YPRL’s Homegrown Summer program 
activated our spaces and attracted 
people back to our libraries after the 
COVID-19 lockdowns of 2021. A vibrant 
program during January focused on 
fresh local food, fun outdoor activities, 
and local live music. Highlights included 
a Library Unlocked afternoon at Diamond 
Valley Library, with live music and pizza 
on the new decking. Other activities 
included tie-dyeing workshops, a family 
garden day at Lalor Library in partnership 
with Bunnings, a walk in the Rosanna 
Parklands led by Indigenous Elder Uncle 
Trevor Gallagher, and a lantern-making 
session at Eltham Library.

We leveraged our strong partnerships 
with all three Member Councils to deliver 
programming to local communities. 
Nillumbik Shire Council provided 
entertainers and activities for the 
Libraries Unlocked session, Banyule City 
Council provided mushroom kits for 
distribution in branches, and City of 
Whittlesea provided entertainers for an 
event at Whittlesea Library.
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Highlighting good design
YPRL participated in Melbourne Design 
Week 2022 by connecting with 
communities across our Member 
Councils — including council staff from 
positive aging, inclusion, early years, 
youth, arts, and diversity and multicultural 
teams — to develop our submission, 
Show Us Good Design Without Telling Us. 
Our project asked participants from our 
communities to send in short videos 
about something they consider brilliant 
design, be it civic, object or visual. A 
collection of the submissions is available 
on our Facebook page  
(www.bit.ly/YPRL-MDW).

Priority: 
Outreach 

Look beyond our existing places 
to build strong links with local 
communities, engage with 
youth, CALD, and First Nations 
communities, and explore and 
test colocation and integration 
of services.

We are always pushing beyond the 
bounds of our physical library spaces. 
Our new library hubs have enabled us 
to extend our services to new areas, 
and our visits to kindergartens, schools, 
and childcare centres resumed in early 
2022. Our focus on codesign to develop 
and implement programs and services 
has allowed us to work more closely 
with many local communities, improving 
our relationships and understanding of 
their needs.

‘The library is a 
wonderful centrepiece 
of the community, 
where people have free 
access to information 
and can feel welcomed.’

http://www.bit.ly/YPRL-MDW
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Reaching our community 
with Click & Collect Hubs
During the pandemic, YPRL extended 
our physical services through a network 
of hubs so that we could provide 
collection access for more people in 
our communities. Following the success 
of the Hurstbridge Community Hub, 
which opened in September 2020, two 
additional hubs launched this year, with 
another in the planning stages.

The Donnybrook Pop-up Hub opened 
in November 2021 at the Olivine 
Estate, within the Shared Cup Café. 
This location offers a Click & Collect 
service for pick-ups and returns. Regular 
Storytime sessions are run by YPRL 
staff for local families and their children 
and is supported by a phone service to 
Whittlesea Library.

The Galada Community Centre Hub also 
offers a Click & Collect service where 
members can return items, collect holds, 
and browse and borrow from a curated 
collection of books and resources. 
Storytime sessions are also scheduled 
for this hub, which is supported by a 
phone service to Thomastown Library.
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Social Media

Platform 2020/21 2021/22 Growth
eNewsletter 45,921 50,857 10.75%
Facebook 6,142 6,893 12.23%
Instagram 3,127 3,584 14.61%
Twitter 2,288 2,352 2.80%
LinkedIn 762 848 11.29%

58,240 64,534 10.81%

Online services

Platform 2020/21 2021/22 Growth
Digital program engagement 4,822 3,688 -23.52%
Website 765,201 1,364,675 78.34%
eLibrary 295,103 321,185 8.84%
YPRL App 158,108 283,917 79.57%

First Nations Storytime
This year YPRL launched a monthly First 
Nations Storytime program. Local First 
Nations community members, Whittlesea 
Early Years Partnership, Bubup Wilam 
Aboriginal Child and Family Centre, and 
First Nations staff members from YPRL 
collaborated to develop the program 
around the concept of Wominjeka (Woi 
Wurrung word for Welcome). We have 
also reached out to Yarn Strong Sista 
and the Victorian Aboriginal Child Care 
Agency (VACCA) to incorporate program 
ideas and early childhood standards.

This welcoming, inclusive, and culturally 
safe program supports relationship-
building and respect with our First 
Nations community. The pilot has seen a 
steady increase in the number of families 
participating and we are delighted to see 
community Indigenous Elders also 
attending.

‘I came along to the library 
to attend training. I didn’t 
know how much fun I could 
have with my children in 
the library. It means I feel 
safe and welcome.’ 

Sharon (19)
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Our communities 
spent 1,118 hours 
learning new 
things with LinkedIn 
Learning and other 
eResources. 

Staying connected: 100 Wi-Fi 
Hotspots
During one of the lockdown periods, 
when our library branches were closed, 
YPRL staff noticed families parking all day 
in the library carparks, most particularly 
at our Thomastown and Lalor branches. 
We discovered that these families had 
no internet at home and were parking 
outside the library so their children could 
participate in online school learning, 
often from the back seat of the car. 

In response to this need YPRL, Whittlesea 
Community Connections, and Vodafone 
collaborated on a pilot project to loan 100 
free hotspot devices to local families with 
no home internet and children in school 
or university. The project has been 
enormously successful with eligible 
families from Thomastown, Lalor, Wollert, 
Doreen, and Epping able to use these 
hotspot devices for 12 months, giving 
children equal opportunity to participate 
in remote learning and increasing access 
to vital information during the pandemic. 

‘My children struggle, 
and this will make our 
lives so much easier.’
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Celebrating our diversity
The International Day Against 
Homophobia, Biphobia and Transphobia 
(IDAHOBIT) is held on 17 May. YPRL 
acknowledged the day at Eltham Library 
by hosting a Human Library session 
where patrons could ‘borrow’ a drag 
queen or IDAHOBIT activist to learn 
about their story. Ivanhoe Library and 
Cultural Hub hosted a series of movie 
nights showing LGBTQIA+ films, as well 
as a Youth Pride Takeover event with 
a drag show and Queer Marketspace 
highlighting young LGBTQIA+ designers.

Mill Park Library presented a trivia 
evening with Frock Hudson as part of 
Libraries After Dark, and Thomastown 
Library hosted the Queerways exhibition, 
which celebrates queer stories and 
voices of Melbourne past and present. 

The exhibition was created by local 
artists Luciano and Georgia Keats and 
supported by the Australian Queer 
Archives. Digital elements of the 
exhibition use QR Code technology to tell 
the stories of being queer in Melbourne.

To celebrate Pride Month in June, Eltham, 
Ivanhoe, Mill Park, and Thomastown 
libraries hosted Rainbow Storytimes that 
focused on the theme of inclusion and 
diversity. Diamond Valley Library hosted a 
powerful documentary about two women 
and their journey from homemakers to 
activists for same-sex equality.
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Grants received

Grant title Funding 
body

Rough outline Amount 
received

Online Storytime grant ALIA Guest storytime presenters: 
disability, rainbow, First 
Nations, etc.

$1,800.00

Nillumbik Community Fund Shire of 
Nillumbik

Indigenous art for DV $5,000.00

Vaccine Ambassadors 
Community Engagement 
grant

PLV Partner with WHIN for 
engagement session around 
booster shots

$1,425.00

Vaccine Ambassadors 
Community Engagement 
grant - extra funding

PLV Partner with WHIN for 
engagement session around 
booster shots

$2,075.00

SLV Libraries Change Lives: 
Community Campaign

SLV Promotion for Family Safety 
Expo & advocacy for libraries 
as partner for health services

$1,500.00

SLV Health & Wellbeing 
grant

SLV Mental health focus for 
Somali Australian community 
in West Heidelberg

$77,950.00

$89,750.00

‘The library is the source 
of my sense of who I am. 
I would be lost without 
the library. It reflects the 
diversity and inclusiveness 
of our community.’
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outcome: Knowledge 
and learning
Together we build capacity and 
confidence for people across 
our communities to meaningfully 
participate in work and 
community life.

With our collections, programs, services, 
spaces, and wider resources, YPRL is 
a centre of learning for the community, 
both in our physical buildings and online 
spaces. We support local makers, 
creatives, and entrepreneurs through 
our Creative Communities Action Plan. 
And through our Digital Inclusion Action 
Plan, we support the community to fully 
engage in the online world, providing 
direct assistance with access, skills, and 
affordability. Both plans can be found on 
our website (www.bit.ly/YPRL-PPaSF).

Priority: Programs 
and pathways

Develop programs and pathways 
that focus on partnerships for 
youth capacity building, pathways 
to employment, community 
resilience, and community-led 
programming and collections.

YPRL works with nearly 350 community 
partners, large and small, to grow our 
capacity to offer services and programs 
to our communities. This includes 
partnering with Jobs Victoria Advocates 
to support local pathways to 
employment; and working with our 
Member Council youth teams to codesign 
engaging and exciting programs for the 
12–25-year-old age group, such as the 
Youth Takeover Nights at Ivanhoe Library 
and Cultural Hub. Our community-led 
programming has helped people 
reconnect and build confidence after 
lockdowns. Coworking spaces, online 
resources such as LinkedIn Learning, and 
close partnerships with council Economic 
Development teams are helping people 
access employment as well as 
microbusinesses and entrepreneurs.

http://www.bit.ly/YPRL-PPaSF
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Storytimes kickstart  
literacy learning
YPRL offers a range of children’s services 
and programs aimed at helping children 
develop language skills and social 
connections. Storytime remains one 
of our most popular programs, with 20 
hours of early literacy programming 
delivered to more than 1,500 people 
every week. Babies, toddlers, 
preschoolers, and their parents, carers, 
and grandparents come together to 
read, sing, dance, and play. Families also 
learn ways to give their children the best 
literacy foundation at home.

Digital Storytimes have continued to be a 
vital part of our Early Years Literacy 
programming, allowing families to join in 
from home while isolating due to illness 
or restrictions. We have added online 
storytimes to our regular programming, 
and onsite storytimes have been 
reintroduced in all branches, where 
participant numbers are growing steadily.

Storytime Sessions

Storytimes Sessions Attendance
Diamond 
Valley

67 2,455

Eltham 122 7,047
Ivanhoe 118 4,629
Lalor 41 1,104
Mill Park 51 3,076
Rosanna 79 2,797
Thomastown 74 1,356
Watsonia 52 1,327
Whittlesea 58 1,006
Digital 217 2,827

879 27,624

Delivering 40 Storytime 
sessions each week we 
were able, reaching an 
average of 1,560 people
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Cr Tom Melican read to children at Rosanna Library 25 May at 11.00am

National Simultaneous 
Storytime
In May, YPRL once again took part in 
ALIA’s National Simultaneous Storytime 
(NSS), a long-standing reading campaign 
that chooses a picture book by an 
Australian author and illustrator to be 
read simultaneously to children across 
the country. More than 500 people 
attended YPRL’s NSS events, held across 
all nine of our branches. 

Special guest readers on the day were 
Mayor Cr Frances Eyre (Nillumbik Shire); 
Cr Alison Champion (Banyule City); Cr 
Tom Melican (Banyule City); Cr Elizabeth 
Nealy (Banyule City); Chair Administrator 
Lydia Wilson (City of Whittlesea); Manager 
Strategic Projects Agata Chmielewski 
(City of Whittlesea); Manager Active and 
Creative Communities Anthony Traill (City 
of Whittlesea); and Chief Executive 
Officer Craig Lloyd (City of Whittlesea).
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Learning by reading to dogs
The YPRL Reading Dogs team and their 
human volunteers returned to five 
branches in 2022 and spent time in the 
library every week listening to all sorts of 
stories from kids, including many 
reluctant readers who were happy to 
open a book with a canine friend. Dogs 
make a great non-judgemental audience 
— they do not know if you make a 
mistake, and they love the bonding time.
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Local and Family History
Our Local and Family History 
programming found an even wider 
audience when we moved to online 
programming during lockdowns, with 
up to 100 people attending our virtual 
events. For Local History Month in 
October, we partnered with Eltham 
District Historical Society to create the 
Little Eltham Heritage Walk on the free 
Walking Maps platform, encouraging 
people to get out and explore their 
local history. We also partnered with 
Greensborough Historical Society to 
provide free weekly meeting space 
at Diamond Valley Library while their 
premises were being renovated.

At Ivanhoe Library and Cultural Hub, we 
partnered with the Heidelberg Historical 
Society to host a photographic display 
telling the story of Taking the Train to 
Heidelberg, c. 1900. The display features 
photos taken en route before 
electrification of the Heidelberg Railway 
line in 1921.

All YPRL events

Events hosted Participants attended
Location 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22
Banyule 1,345 305 693 42,482 6,123 13,636
Nillumbik 670 138 379 22,091 3,708 12,734
Whittlesea 1,920 398 756 56,919 7,256 40,111
Online 448 881 381 11,449 14,458 5,818

4,383 1,722 2,209 132,941 31,545 72,299

‘It is a lifeline to me as I 
have no work and have 
trouble making friends 
in my local community.’ 
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Creative communities and  
Maker Spaces
YPRL currently offers different Maker 
Spaces across our library branches. Each 
space has a unique focus and all of them 
offer a range of creative, entrepreneurial, 
and learning activities.

The Maker Space at Mill Park Library, 
which focuses on science and 
technology, needs a refresh so we 
reached out to our community of both 
library users and non-users to find out 
how they would like to use the space 
and what new equipment would be 
worth investing in. The outcomes of this 
consultation will inform the full upgrade of 
the space in 2022–23. 

The Design Maker Space at Ivanhoe 
Library and Cultural Hub has inducted 
over 70 library members on using our 
new equipment, including a metal cutting 
tray and a Cricut Maker 3 vinyl cutter. 
The existing laser cutter and 3D printer 
remain in constant use by our members.

Users of the Textiles and Craft Maker 
Space at Thomastown Library knitted 
30 blankets gifted to the Victorian 
Cat Protection Society and more than 
100 items made for Knit One Give 
One (KOGO), an Australian charity 
that provides items to people in need. 
A sewing event also resulted in 50 
handmade dog beds donated to the 
RSPCA.

Programming returned to the Garden 
Maker Space at the Diamond Valley 
Library following its major refurbishment 
in 2021. Our Stephanie Alexander Kitchen 
Garden partnership remains strong, and 
our volunteers have enthusiastically 
returned and are in the process of 
bringing the garden back to life after 
many months of limited access due to the 
renovation work.

The Watsonia Library Maker Space offers 
opportunities for our community to 
connect, self-express and support their 
mental health during the pandemic. We 
have also supported writers and poets 
with Open Mic sessions where some 
poets expressed that it was the first time 
that they had read their work to others.

Investigations have also begun into 
including a Maker Space in the new 
Rosanna Library with a survey going out 
to the local community to understand 
what they want from a creative space in 
their local branch.
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Priority: 
Information 
and resources

Build on our existing collections, 
assets, and services through 
investment in digital resources, 
collections, and assets; resources 
that are reflective of our diverse 
communities; supporting local 
creatives; early years, adult, and 
digital literacy. 

Our resources and collections are 
responsive to our community needs, and 
we provide quality reliable information. 
We had 3,969 users place a purchase 
suggestion via our website in the last 
year, with 3,189 (80%) being acquired 
and added to our collection. The only 
titles not acquired were ones that were 
unavailable through our supply channels. 
We have also worked with specific 
community groups, such as the First 
Nations community in Thomastown, to 
select or improve areas of our collection.
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Our collection
Providing community access to quality 
collections and resources is one of 
YPRL’s core functions and at the heart 
of our work. Building closures due to the 
pandemic temporarily affected access, 
however, since reopening collection 
usage has been steadily recovering with 
2,156,187 loans throughout 2021–22. 
This is an increase on the previous year, 
though not yet back to pre-pandemic 
usage.

Our eLibrary collections are more popular 
than ever and experienced a sharp 
increase in use during lockdown with a 
6.7% increase compared to last year and 
a 43% increase when compared to prior 
to the pandemic. eAudiobooks continue 
to see the steepest rise in popularity with 
loans increasing by 22% compared to 
last year and 80% compared to the year 
previous. We have continued to expand 
these collections to meet demand with 
the addition of more than 20,000 eAudio 
items this year, more than doubling the 
size of our collection.

‘During lockdowns, the 
digital library has given me 
an accessible and extensive 
world of books. It has 
inspired a renewed love of 
reading and given an escape 
in stressful times.’

Our users listened to 1,345,064 
hours of audio books — think 
of how many loads of washing, 
morning commutes or dinners 
prepared that is!
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Collection statistics

Items 2020/21 2021/22
Total physical items 379,324 353,384
Banyule 133,773 123,104
Whittlesea 164,722 149,591
Nillumbik 80,829 80,689
Total digital items 57,620 83,617
eBooks 36,284 40,746
eAudio 21,336 42,871
Total collection (physical and digital) 436,944 437,001

Loans 2020/21 2021/22
Total loans of physical items 1,391,280 1,835,002
Banyule 462,105 686,193
Whittlesea 584,501 606,230
Nillumbik 344,674 542,579
Total loans of digital items 295,103 321,185
eBooks 157,481 153,052
eAudio 137,622 168,133
Total loans (physical and digital) 1,686,383 2,156,187

Turnover 2020/21 2021/22
Turnover of all items 3.9 4.9
Physical items 3.7 5.2
Banyule 3.5 5.6
Whittlesea 3.5 4.1
Nillumbik 4.3 6.7

Purchases 2020/21 2021/22
New items 72,809 92,227
Banyule 29,391 32,818
Whittlesea 13,753 37,440
Nillumbik 29,665 21,969
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Community language 
collections
Obtaining our LOTE (Language Other 
Than English) collection continued to be 
a challenge throughout 2021–22. The 
publishing industry worldwide has been 
affected by COVID-19 and conflicts in 
Europe interrupted the production and 
supply of many language titles. Working 
closely with our LOTE book and DVD 
suppliers we were able to acquire 11,493 
new items, which saw 67,088 loans 
from our 17 language collections. In 
consultation with Elders from our First 
Nations community, 58 DVD titles were 
added to the collection highlighting 
Indigenous talents, creativity, and pride. 

We added a new resource, LOTE Online 
for Kids, to our eLibrary this year. This 
database of digital books encourages 
children to enjoy reading and learning 
language through storytelling. The 
addition of this eResource grows and 
diversifies our LOTE collections to better 
engage culturally and linguistically 
diverse (CALD) families, and support 
children learning second languages. It 
contains more than 1,350 digital books, 
covering over 45 languages together with 

English translations. Children can also 
watch each translated title with English 
narration to help with reading and literacy 
development. Our long-term goal is to 
continue to explore digital options in all 
our community languages to build an 
inclusive and diverse eLibrary where 
everybody in our community can see 
themselves represented.

‘The first thing was a big 
smile on my face when I 
tuned to a Hindi story that 
I used to hear as a child. 
Felt so good that my son 
can also hear and learn his 
mother-tongue.’

Anita and her son Aarav
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Diamond Valley Library 
renewed for the future 
After extensive renovations that began 
in February 2021, the refurbished 
Diamond Valley Library reopened to the 
public on 30 August. The works included 
major upgrades like replacing the air-
conditioning and included new features 
such as a parents room, fully accessible 
gender-neutral toilets, a new community 
room, meeting pod, tech pod, and an 
outdoor deck to allow library users to 
work or lounge in the thriving community 
garden. These new facilities give our 
community even more opportunities to 
connect, learn, and thrive.

‘Libraries aren’t just about 
books any more, and that’s 
amazing. They’re real hubs 
of the community providing 
important programs to kids 
and adults alike. For me, my 
library is a safe place, quiet, 
and oh so comforting to be 
among the stacks.’

This refurbishment was funded by 
Nillumbik Shire Council and the State 
Government’s Living Libraries 
Infrastructure Program. The official 
opening was held on Tuesday 15 
February 2022 with the Hon. Vicki Ward 
MP officially opening the library on behalf 
of the Minister for Local Government, the 
Hon. Shaun Leane MP, while the Hon. 
Colin Brooks MP was also in attendance. 
Nillumbik Shire Council Mayor Cr Frances 
Eyre led proceedings, with Deputy Mayor 
Cr Ben Ramcharan, Cr Karen Egan, Cr 
Richard Stockman, and Cr Natalie Duffy 
also there to celebrate. Banyule City 
Council Mayor Cr Elizabeth Nealy and Cr 
Alison Champion, who are both YPRL 
Board Members, were also present for 
the reopening in recognition of the 
services supplied to the broader region 
by Diamond Valley Library.
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Celebrating the reopening of Diamond Valley Library. Left-right: (standing) Nillumbik 
Deputy Mayor Ramcharan, Banyule Mayor Neally, Jane Cowell CEO YPRL, Hon. 
Colin Brooks MP for Bundorra, Banyule Councillor Champion, Nillumbik Councillor 
Stockman, Nillumbik Councillor Duffy, (sitting) Vicki Ward MP for Eltham, Nillumbik 
Mayor Eyre, Nillumbik Councillor Egan 

‘It’s fulfilling knowing there 
is a service dedicated to 
enriching the lives of the 
community.’ 
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‘Crucial to my social 
interaction. I live alone, the 
staff are welcoming and 
friendly and sometimes 
the only conversation I will 
have that day.’

New Learning Garden 
at Mill Park Library
Site enhancements at Mill Park Library 
were completed with the new Learning 
Garden and surrounds officially launched 
on 21 March by the Hon. Lily D’Ambrosio 
MP, Member for Mill Park.

There are whimsical spaces that invite 
families and children to play, move and 
explore and it features a giant blue-
tongued lizard and a sensory garden 
xylophone and stepping stones. The 
innovative food cubes address healthy 
eating, food security and sustainability by 
providing opportunities for community 
partners to grow their own food. The 
covered deck ensures our community 
has an outdoor space to use throughout 
the year. The entire surrounds and 
amenities are watered by the state-of-
the-art water harvesting system, which 
has scope for further expansion in years 
to come. The $900,000 Learning Garden 
and surrounds was funded by the Victoria 
Government’s Growing Suburbs Fund and 
the City of Whittlesea.
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Hon. Lily D'Ambrosio MP for Mill Park, Jane Cowell CEO YPRL, Lydia Wilson 
Administrator for City of Whittlesea

Library visitation

Location 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 % change
Diamond 
Valley

104,881 110,161 78,924 22,219 32,570 46.59%

Eltham 268,591 267,087 190,181 104,138 131,349 26.13%
Ivanhoe 176,522 164,039 122,938 66,062 155,262 135.02%
Lalor 293,281 298,611 207,459 84,662 92,455 9.20%
Mill Park 203,325 161,134 130,499 65,508 100,247 53.03%
Rosanna 131,419 128,847 111,096 67,692 59,596 -11.96%
Thomastown 141,387 144,051 103,684 43,257 43,245 -0.03%
Watsonia 193,244 197,435 141,359 62,446 66,481 6.46%
Whittlesea 51,312 49,962 35,942 21,351 23,132 8.34%
Mobile 
Library

21,131 35,044 25,058 18,880 10,527 -44.24%

1,585,093 1,556,371 1,147,140 556,215 714,864 28.52%
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outcome: organisational strength
Investment in our staff, capacity, 
and governance to ensure we are 
capable and ready to adapt, learn 
and empower our communities 
in environmentally and socially 
responsible ways.

We continue to invest in our people, our 
processes, and our technology to deliver 
efficient and effective library services to 
our community. In a constantly changing 
environment, we are innovating to help 
our service grow, and seeking continuous 
improvement in what and how we deliver.

Priority: 
Governance and 
technology

Strengthen our service by 
ensuring effective governance-
strengthening decisions and 
partnerships; technology as an 
enabler for delivering services; 
technology that improves user 
experience.

YPRL continues to look to best practice 
approaches in how we govern our service 
provision to our three Member Councils. 
We also continue to invest in technology 
and systems to ensure we remain an 
efficient service that gets the best 
outcomes for our communities.

Innovative enterprise 
bargaining
YPRL implemented an interest-based 
bargaining process for the recent round 
of enterprise bargaining, and in October 
2021, this process concluded with a 
successful ‘yes’ vote to accept the Yarra 
Plenty Regional Library Service 
Enterprise Agreement 2020. The 
bargaining team were invited by the Fair 
Work Commission to present a short 
video message at the Australian Labour & 
Employment Relations Association 
(ALERA) national conference in October, 
presenting on cooperative workplace 
relations and our innovative Interest-
Based Bargaining approach.
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‘The library and what it 
offers me is the reason 
I feel mentally fit at the 
moment. Thank you for 
all that you do for us!’

Professional memberships
• ALIA (Australian Library & Information 

Association)
• Australian Human Resources Institute
• FinPro (Local Government Finance 

Professionals)
• IFLA (International Federation of Library 

Associations and Institutions)
• IPA (Institute of Financial Accounts)
• PLV (Public Libraries Victoria)
• PLV Collections Special Interest Group
• PLV Home Library Service Special 

Interest Group
• PLV ICT Special Interest Group
• PLV Libmark Special Interest Group
• PLV Local Studies Special Interest 

Group
• PLV Resource Sharing Special  

Interest Group
• Stephanie Alexander Kitchen Garden
• VALA (Victorian Association for Library 

Automation)
• VECCI (Victorian Chamber of  

Commerce & Industry)

Library user surveys 
and outcomes
In March 2022 YPRL participated in the 
Public Libraries Victoria/State Library 
Victoria Survey. The survey ran online 
and in-person for a few weeks, and YPRL 
achieved 2,690 survey responses, the 
highest total in the state. The survey data 
demonstrated that YPRL was at or above 
the state-wide average in most reporting 
areas, and clearly exceeded the average 
for opening hours and the look and feel 
of our library buildings. We scored 8.77 
out of 10 to the question ‘Overall, how 
satisfied are you with the services of 
your library?’ slightly higher than the 
state-wide average of 8.74. The survey 
data will be used to advocate to State 
Government and other stakeholders 
about the importance of public libraries 
to the community.

We also participated in the state-wide 
Public Library Census on 24 May 2022, in 
branch. We interviewed 1,213 community 
members, with 16,464 responses state-
wide. The census data told us that YPRL 
users were more likely to come in as a 
group and be frequent visitors than the 
state-wide average, and we scored right 
around the state-average for satisfaction 
(9.24 vs 9.26 state-wide). The Public 
Library Census provides a snapshot of 
who is using public libraries across the 
state, what they use libraries for, and their 
levels of satisfaction. 
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Expanding YPRL’s 
online presence 
We commenced stage two of YPRL’s 
website development with the goal of 
improving our capacity to promote both 
library and partner events, programs, 
and resources. We delivered a new 
discoverability layer and promotional 
carousels that went live in August, which 
make it easier for people to search for 
specific programs and explore related 
events of interest. We have continued 
to make our digital platforms more 
accessible, changing how we develop 
and display documents in line with the 
new YPRL Accessibility Action Plan.

In November, we launched our new 
online venue booking system to help 
make it faster and easier for both casual 
and regular visitors to book a range of 
library venues available for public use. 
Improvements to our digital platforms 
will continue through 2022–23 based on 
feedback we receive from our users.

Reviewing outreach services
During the year, we engaged external 
consultants to undertake a review of our 
mobile library and outreach programs. 
The review engaged all three Member 
Councils as well as library members 
to gauge the needs of our community 
and ensure that the next era of services 
will be fit for purpose. Findings were 
provided to the Library Board. The 
review demonstrated the importance 
of the mobile and outreach services 
and recommended expanding outreach 
services across the region with a change 
of vehicles. YPRL will be purchasing a 
new mobile library vehicle in the future.

‘I love popping into the library 
bus, where I am welcomed 
like a friend, where I always 
see people I know and have 
a chat, where I can discuss 
what’s happening locally. 
The library bus is a fantastic 
community service.’
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Updated processes and policies

Date Policy
October 2021 YPRL Motor Vehicle Policy
October 2021 YPRL Debt Recovery Policy
October 2021 Creative Communities Action Plan 2021–2025
October 2021 YPRL Marketing Action Plan
December 2021 YPRL Fire Safety Procedure
December 2021 YPRL Accessibility Action Plan
February 2022 YPRL Digital Inclusion Action Plan
April 2022 YPRL Public Interest Disclosures Procedure
June 2022 YPRL Procurement Policy
June 2022 Collections Strategic Framework

Priority: 
Environmental and 
social sustainability

Responsible, relevant, and 
conscious organisation through 
ensuring diverse and inclusive 
practice; environmental and 
socially sustainable practice and 
procurement. 

‘I am amazed what a 
treasure of information 
the library is.’

YPRL aims to be environmentally 
sustainable and socially inclusive in all 
things. The new Learning Garden at Mill 
Park Library features a City of Whittlesea 
funded smart water harvesting system 
that services all amenities and waters 
the garden using rainwater. We host 
eWaste recycling deposits at six of our 
branches, and community gardens at 
three branches. We use local suppliers 
where possible, and for specific 
collections, such as the Learning Library, 
we endeavour to purchase all stock 
through social enterprises and ethical 
small businesses. When programming 
our events, we focus on celebrating 
ethnic and cultural diversity as seem in 
the installation of the new Dreaming Sky 
mural at Eltham Library.
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A diverse and sustainable 
collection
A focus this year was broadening our 
range of collection items to create a more 
diverse, equitable and inclusive collection 
where every member of the community 
can see themselves represented. This 
year our Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion 
(DEI) collection content reached 18.8% 
of the overall collection, reflecting a 4.2% 
increase over the past four years (the 
previous four-year increase was 0.4%). 
YPRL has made a long-term commitment 
to increasing DEI collecting over the 
coming years.

We also continue to explore ways to 
optimise the environmental impact of 
our collecting activities. We are looking 
at ways to minimise the use of plastics, 
packaging and labelling wherever 
possible. During the year we cut label 
production by 100,000 by combining the 
functionality of barcodes and RFID tags 
into a single label for all new items added 
to the collection.

Yarra Plenty Regional Library buys more 
than 90,000 books and other materials 
every year, with brand new releases 
and customer requests delivered to 
our branches every day. To keep our 
collection current, accurate, and relevant 
to community needs, we regularly remove 
old, damaged, or out of date items from 
the collection. YPRL has partnered with 
our supplier James Bennett on their 
project The Sustainability Project (TSP), 
which collects our withdrawn items and 
repurposes them. We organised monthly 
pickups from TSP through most of 2021–
22. This program frees up space for new 
collection items, keeps withdrawn books 
out of landfill, and allows staff to focus on 
other tasks.
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‘A great place to 
exchange information 
in a safe environment 
and to meet unexpected 
people. Nice people use 
libraries.’

The Welcome Here Project
YPRL is committed to providing safe 
and welcoming spaces for the whole 
community. During the year we were 
proud to sign up to the Welcome Here 
Project and display ‘welcome here’ 
stickers at all our branches. This project 
supports businesses and services 
throughout Australia to create and 
promote environments that are visibly 
welcoming and inclusive of lesbian, 
gay, bisexual, transgender, queer, 
intersex, asexual, and other LGBTQIA+ 
communities. The ‘welcome here’ sticker 
lets our LGBTQIA+ community members 
know that YPRL libraries are safe spaces. 
This action was initiated by queer youth 
community members at Whittlesea 
Library and has been enthusiastically 
supported by all YPRL branches.
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Creating a sustainable Yarra Plenty Regional Library

Giving books a second chance
More than 50,000 books were given to 
The Sustainability Project so that they 
would not end up in landfill.

Printing fewer labels
We combined our RFID and barcode 
labels on all new items so we used 
100,000 fewer labels in 2021–22 than 
we would have otherwise!

Recycling eWaste
We had over 100 loads of eWaste 
collected from the waste recycling 
stations at six of our branches and 
implemented a new station in a seventh 
branch.

Seed Libraries
We expanded our Seed Libraries to all 
nine of our library branches.

Garden Maker Space
We have a Garden Maker Space where 
anyone can come and learn to grow 
things sustainably.

Solar panels on our roofs
We have solar panels on five of our 
branches, which supply enough 
electricity to power most of our library 
services. 



62 

Priority: People 
and capacity 

Invest in our people through 
building people’s capability and 
capacity; creating opportunities for 
growth and learning.

Our staff are our biggest asset, working 
with the community every day to deliver 
friendly, knowledgeable, and competent 
service. Like our members, our staff 
are life-long learners, and take every 
opportunity to grow and learn. Our 
team have participated in conferences, 
webinars, and many internal training 
sessions on everything from early literacy 
foundations to supporting loneliness 
and learning about new technology — 
all to provide the best outcomes to the 
community. 

YPRL staff

Staff totals Number  
of staff

% of YPRL 
workforce

Full time 40 25%
Part time 108 67%
Casual 14 8%
Total 162

‘My library was a lifeline 
for my father in his 
last years of life. My 
experience is that public 
librarians are the epitome 
of public service.’

Community-driven design 
YPRL is committed to creating a 
genuinely inclusive space and service. 
Over the past year, our staff have 
continued codesign training so that we 
can deepen engagement with our diverse 
communities. We now have 11 qualified 
codesign champions in our teams 
working closely with stakeholders from 
priority communities, including youth, 
First Nations, and CALD communities. 
Our aim is to listen, learn, and codesign 
services and programs, starting with the 
question of how we can make the library 
more welcoming for these specific 
communities.
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First Nations cultural 
competency program
To support our goal of increased 
engagement with our First Nations 
communities, we embarked on First 
Nations cultural competency learning 
and development. This important cultural 
education is helping our staff to develop 
deeper understanding and greater 
competency in delivering programs and 
support for our First Nations communities.

In 2021–22, Koorie Heritage Trust 
delivered two Building Aboriginal and 
Cultural Competency training sessions to 
a total of 30 staff. In 2022–23 the program 
will be continued and expanded.

‘Every YPRL employee should 
receive this training when 
inducted. Some staff knew 
history but hadn’t walked in 
First Nations shoes or even 
considered how this could 
affect our library service.’

‘This training should be 
mandatory. I learned so 
much about our Indigenous 
communities that I had no clue 
about, and I feel as though this 
is essential knowledge when 
working on Stolen Land.’

Cultural inclusion at the library
On 12 May 2022, YPRL staff participated 
in a pilot cultural competency training 
delivered by two Banyule City Council 
Youth team members, Sadia and Sayeed. 
This training provided the group with 
information about the local Somali 
Australian community and started 
a conversation about our cultural 
understanding of the community based 
largely in Heidelberg West.

The training highlighted that YPRL 
needed to create welcoming library 
spaces for everyone, and it was identified 
that the Ivanhoe Library and Cultural Hub 
would become a more welcoming space 
for the community if it had a room in the 
library that was clearly marked as being 
able to be used as a prayer room. Since 
the training, Ivanhoe staff have identified 
a space in the library and made it more 
welcoming for patrons seeking to utilise a 
space for prayer. This has led to patrons 
feeling more included and safer in the 
library.
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Finding the facts
As librarians, we are trained to find high-
quality, trusted information, in a world 
of fake news. This includes seeking out 
and learning from verified experts and 
keeping our skills sharp with ongoing 
learning so we can provide the best 
possible information and services to our 
users.

External training provided
• Advocacy and Storytelling
• COVID Safety and Community Support
• Cultural and Inclusivity Training
• Cyber Safety and Security
• Digital and Technical Skills
• Health and Wellbeing
• Homelessness and Loneliness
• Leadership and Management
• Library and Information Skills

Conference attendance
• ALIA Conference 2022
• Early Years Conference
• IFLA World Library & Information 

Congress
• Meerkin & Apel Workplace Relations 

Forum
• PLV 2022 Planning Summit
• SLV & PLV Local Library Champions
• SLV & PLV Sustainability and Libraries 

Forum 2021
• VALA 2022
• VALA Implementation of Robotics and 

STEM Education within the Library 
Sector

• Whittlesea Early Years and 
Conservation Conference

‘My training at the ALIA 
conference focused on 
diversity and inclusion, and 
enabled me to make our 
libraries an inviting and safe 
place for all patrons.’



65

Conference attendance
• ALIA Conference 2022
• Early Years Conference
• IFLA World Library & Information 

Congress
• Meerkin & Apel Workplace Relations 

Forum
• PLV 2022 Planning Summit
• SLV & PLV Local Library Champions
• SLV & PLV Sustainability and Libraries 

Forum 2021
• VALA 2022
• VALA Implementation of Robotics and 

STEM Education within the Library 
Sector

• Whittlesea Early Years and 
Conservation Conference
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YPRL presentations

When Event Details
Aug 2021 IFLA Robyn Ellard presented on libraries as creative 

incubators.
Sep 2021 Digital Innovation 

Festival City of 
Melbourne webinar

Kate Ferguson talked about digital innovation 
and libraries.

Sep 2021 CAVAL Seminar Series 
webinar

Jane Cowell was a panellist: Access and 
Connection – Libraries during COVID.

Oct 2021 IAML Conference Scott Mundell presented about supporting 
local talent and how library Maker Spaces can 
be used as creative incubators.

Feb 2022 Bibliotheca Jane Cowell was Keynote Speaker: Remaining 
Relevant in the New Normal – Bringing the 
Community back to the Library (International 
webinar).

Feb 2022 INCITE in Conversation Brendan Eichholzer discussed the Return 
Yourself to the Library campaign that is 
ramping up across Victoria.

May 2022 ALIA National 
Conference

Jane Cowell presented and facilitated a 
workshop: The One Thing: How Librarians are 
Changing Communities for Good sponsored 
by CIVICA.

May 2022 Getting Ready to Read Coralie Kouvelas presented for City of 
Whittlesea on early years learning.

Jun 2022 Getting Ready to Read Coralie Kouvelas presented for City of 
Whittlesea on early years learning.

Jun 2022 Public Libraries South 
Australia

Jane Cowell was Keynote Speaker: Libraries 
Supporting Communities to Thrive.

Jane Cowell was a panellist: How Libraries can 
Position Themselves – Funding and Innovation 
from a Local Government Perspective.

Jane Cowell was a panellist: Funding 
Negotiation, Media and the Value of Libraries.
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Featured articles

When Publication Details
Jul 2021 Star Weekly Exploring Whittlesea's past, where Liz Pidgeon 

wrote about City of Whittlesea's past and included 
photos of our collection.

Nov 2021 INCITE Keeping Communities Connected, where Coralie 
Kouvelas was interviewed about YPRL's digital 
storytimes.

Nov 2021 The Guardian Hotspots in a cold climate: the Melbourne library 
that transformed lockdown for struggling families.

Nov 2021 Architecture & Design Earthy palette with custom Krause bricks merges 
old and new at Ivanhoe Library.

Nov 2021 The Greek Herald Melbourne librarian Coralie Kouvelas’ plan to help 
people who can’t afford Wi-Fi.

Dec 2021 Neos Kosmos How a Melbourne library makes a difference to 
people's lives.

Jan 2022 INCITE Back in the Habit, where Brendan Eichholzer wrote 
about the Return Yourself to the Library campaign.

Feb 2022 ABC Radio Jane Cowell was interviewed for Afternoons on 
ABC Melbourne.

Mar 2022 CIVICA Jane Cowell wrote about her "One Thing" in Return 
Yourself to the Library.

Jun 2022 Postcards Ivanhoe Library and Cultural Hub was featured in 
an episode about the Ivanhoe Book Club.

Internal training

• CEO on the Spot — YPRL Board Update
• Child Safety
• COVID-19 for Onsite Work
• COVID Marshall
• Enterprise Bargaining Sessions for 

Employees
• eResources Collection

• Introduction to Storytime
• Ladder Use
• Our Collection
• Performance Review Process for 

Employees
• Performance Review Process for 

Leaders
• Responsible Code of Conduct
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Priority: A resilient 
and thriving 
organisation

Secure and grow our organisation 
through: financial diversification; 
development of a new 
business model in response to 
Local Government Act 2020 
requirements. 

YPRL has adapted to every challenge 
thrown at us over the last year. Whether 
lockdowns, restrictions on access and 
programming, or with the community 
slow to return to the library, all our staff 
and volunteers have proved resilient. We 
have undertaken business continuity 
planning to ensure future success, and 
have acted, via a state-wide Return 
Yourself to the Library marketing 
campaign and creative programming, to 
bring people back into our branches.
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Adapting through lockdown 
As Victoria battled a third wave of 
COVID-19 infections in 2021, lockdowns 
continued to impact YPRL services, with 
restrictions in place from 16 to 27 July 
and from 5 August to 21 October. Click 
& Collect services proved vital during 
this period to enable us to continue 
providing the public with access to the 
collection. This service has facilitated 
376,731 collection pick-ups this year, 
ensuring ongoing access to the physical 
collection even through the fluctuations 
of COVIDSafe measures.

From 22 October, the vaccinated 
economy began with library sites 
reopening to those with proof of double 
vaccination. To support community 
members without proof of double 
vaccination, YPRL continued to provide 
digital programming and Click & Collect 
stations in sections of the library that 
did not require check-in. The vaccine 
mandate remained in effect until  
22 April 2022.

Alongside the restrictions came illness. 
The large number of COVID-19 cases 
afflicted YPRL staff which resulted 
in some branches moving to Click & 
Collect only services during January and 
February. While these were challenging 
decisions to make, altering the offerings 
at some branches allowed us to keep 
other branches open and provide a level 
of consistency in the services offered 
across the region. Again, our staff went 
above and beyond, working across the 
region — and sometimes outside their 
regular roles — to ensure that we could 
provide library services to our visitors.

‘It kept me connected 
during the lockdown times, 
putting books on hold and 
collecting them and having 
a person to interact with 
was invaluable to my sanity.’
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‘The library is welcoming and 
the staff are friendly. It is a 
place to connect with others 
and the hours are flexible. I 
love being at the library and 
it makes me feel part of a 
learning community.’ 

Return Yourself to the Library
In response to the slower than hoped 
uptake in library services following 
the reopening of our branches, YPRL 
participated in the state-wide Public 
Libraries Victoria campaign, Return 
Yourself to the Library. The campaign 
consisted of 10 social media videos 
highlighting some of the wonderful 
things you will find if you return yourself 
to the library. With over 20,000 views 
across our platforms, and physical 
collateral including a YPRL flyer dropped 
to most houses across our Member 
Council areas, we are now starting to 
see an uptake in users returning to 
library spaces. Visitation numbers in 
June reached above 90% of the 2019 
equivalent for the first time since the start 
of the pandemic. YPRL will continue to 
use the campaign to encourage everyone 
to return themselves to the library across 
2022–23 with more letter drops planned 
and a campaign involving local real estate 
agencies that will inform new residents in 
our communities about the great services 
offered by their local library.
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Stronger libraries together: 
New Warrnambool Library 
service agreement
Warrnambool Library Service is a new, 
single-municipality library in Victoria’s 
west. As a small library service, they have 
limited capacity to provide extensive 
services to their community, and so they 
reached out to YPRL (via a tender 
process) for assistance. As part of a 
managed services agreement, YPRL has 
been able to provide support with 
systems, administration services, 
collection services, access to 
eResources, and some curated 
collection. This increases Warrnambool’s 
scope and offerings to their local 
community, as well as providing an 
additional revenue stream for YPRL.

‘To have this free resource in 
our community is so special. 
Community members across 
all ages can find something 
for them at the library.’
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Information Privacy Act
The Privacy and Data Protection 
Act 2014 is designed to protect the 
private information of individuals. The 
Corporation has a Privacy Policy available 
on the library website. No complaints 
were received during 2021–22.

Freedom of Information 
The Freedom of Information Act 1982 
provides people with the opportunity to 
obtain information held by state and local 
government departments and authorities. 
The Act gives people the right to request 
documents relating to their personal 
affairs. YPRL did not receive any requests 
during 2021–22.

Public Interest Disclosures
In accordance with the provisions of 
S.58 of the Public Interest Disclosure Act 
2012, the Corporation has a procedure 
for dealing with disclosures made 
under the Act. The Executive Manager 
Corporate Services is the Corporation’s 
Protected Disclosure Coordinator. YPRL 
has not received any disclosures directly 
nor has it received any referrals from the 
Ombudsman during 2021–22.
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Certification of Financial Statements 
 

In my opinion, the financial report has been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Local Government Act 
1989 (as per the transitional provisions of the Local Government Act 2020) and the Local Government (Planning and 
Reporting) Regulations 2014, the Australian Accounting Standards and other mandatory professional reporting 
requirements. 
 

 

 

Luciano Lauronce 
Principal Accounting Officer 
Dated: 30 September 2022 
South Morang 
 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly the financial transactions of the Yarra Plenty Regional 
Library Service (YPRL) for the year ended 30 June 2022 and the financial position of YPRL as at that date. 

 

At the date of signing, we are not aware of any circumstances that would render any particulars in the financial statements 
to be misleading or inaccurate. 

 

We have been authorised by the YPRL Board and the Local Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2014 to 
certify the financial statements in their final form. 

 

 

 

Councillor Karen Egan 
Dated: 30 September 2022 
South Morang 
 

 

 

Councillor Alison Champion 
Dated: 30 September 2022 
South Morang 
 

 

 

Jane Cowell 
Chief Executive Officer 
Dated: 30 September 2022 
South Morang 
  

DocuSign Envelope ID: 3D64906E-3DD9-49FA-9CE4-F13954949DA2
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
To the Board members of Yarra Plenty Regional Library Service 

Opinion I have audited the financial report of Yarra Plenty Regional Library Service (the library) 
which comprises the: 

• balance sheet as at 30 June 2022 
• comprehensive income statement for the year then ended 
• statement of changes in equity for the year then ended 
• statement of cash flows for the year then ended 
• notes to the financial statements, including significant accounting policies 
• certification of the financial statements. 

In my opinion the financial report presents fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of the library as at 30 June 2022 and their financial performance and cash flows for 
the year then ended in accordance with the financial reporting requirements of the Local 
Government Act 1989, the Local Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2014 
and applicable Australian Accounting Standards.   

Basis for 
Opinion 

I have conducted my audit in accordance with the Audit Act 1994 which incorporates the 
Australian Auditing Standards. I further describe my responsibilities under that Act and 
those standards in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section 
of my report.  

My independence is established by the Constitution Act 1975. My staff and I are 
independent of the library in accordance with the ethical requirements of the Accounting 
Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to my audit of the financial report in Victoria. My 
staff and I have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. 

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for my opinion. 

Board 
members’ 
responsibilities 
for the 
financial 
report 

The Board members of the library are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation 
of the financial report in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Local 
Government Act 1989, the Local Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2014 
and for such internal control as the Board members determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation and fair presentation of a financial report that is free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial report, the Board members are responsible for assessing the 
library’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to 
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless it is inappropriate to 
do so. 
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2 

Auditor’s 
responsibilities 
for the audit 
of the financial 
report 

As required by the Audit Act 1994, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial 
report based on the audit. My objectives for the audit are to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial report as a whole is free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes my opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected 
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.  

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, I exercise 
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. I also:  

• identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether 
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, 
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is 
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

• obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose 
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the library’s internal control 

• evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Board members 

• conclude on the appropriateness of the Board members’ use of the going concern 
basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on 
the library’s ability to continue as a going concern. If I conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, I am required to draw attention in my auditor’s report to the 
related disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to 
modify my opinion. My conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to 
the date of my auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the 
library to cease to continue as a going concern.  

• evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, 
including the disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.  

I communicate with the Board members regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that I identify during my audit. 

     

MELBOURNE 
13 October 2022 

Travis Derricott 
as delegate for the Auditor-General of Victoria 
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Comprehensive Income Statement 
For the Year Ended 30 June 2022 

 
 Note 2022 

$ 
2021 

$ 
Income    
Contributions to Regional Library Service – Member Councils 3.1 13,488,419 13,039,630 

Contributions to Regional Library Service – State Government 3.2 2,605,225 2,516,355 

Grants 3.2 278,980 190,489 

Other contributions 3.3 36,987 41,690 

Library fees  64,233 47,181 

Interest  12,933 6,246 

Other revenue 3.4 359,934 129,817 

Total income  16,846,711 15,971,408 

    

Expenses    
Employee costs 4.1 10,553,448 9,617,598 

Library support centre office costs  18,304 12,066 

Depreciation 4.2 1,739,854 1,796,973 

Amortisation – right of use assets 4.2 108,427 108,642 

Administration costs  321,199 309,162 

Branch costs  1,049,634 710,152 

Computer services  963,631 1,179,254 

Collection services  1,167,026 996,352 

Net loss on disposal of assets 4.3 180 - 

Finance costs – leases 4.4 14,166 16,388 

Other expenses 4.5 571,211 400,969 

Total expenses  16,507,080 15,147,556 

Surplus for the year  339,631 823,852 

Other comprehensive income  - - 

Total comprehensive Result  339,631 823,852 

 
The above comprehensive income statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Balance Sheet 
As at 30 June 2022 

 

 Note 2022 
$ 

2021 
$ 

Assets    
Current Assets    

Cash and cash equivalents 5.1 4,351,250 7,188,413 

Trade & other receivables 5.1 56,387 28,530 

Other financial assets 5.1 3,000,000 - 

Other assets 5.2 46,601 44,602 

Total current assets  7,454,238 7,261,545 

Non-current assets     

Bookstock, plant and equipment 6.1 3,779,593 3,864,743 

Right-of-use assets 5.7 682,355 790,782 

Total non-current assets  4,461,948 4,655,525 

Total assets  11,916,186 11,917,070 

     

Liabilities     

Current liabilities     

Trade and other payables 5.3 647,584 1,151,345 

Lease liabilities 5.7 94,728 96,938 

Employee provisions 5.4 2,247,125 2,011,944 

Total current liabilities  2,989,437 3,260,227 

Non-current liabilities     

Employee provisions 5.4 103,594 78,591 

Lease liabilities 5.7 634,072 728,800 

Total non-current liabilities  737,666 807,391 

Total liabilities  3,727,103 4,067,618 

Net assets  8,189,083 7,849,452 

Equity     

Accumulated Surplus 9.4 6,814,578 6,524,947 

Reserves  1,374,505 1,324,505 

Total Equity  8,189,083 7,849,452 

 
The above balance sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Statement of Changes in Equity 
For the Year Ended 30 June 2022 

 

2022 Note Total 
 

$ 

Accumulated 
Surplus 

$ 

Other 
Reserves 

$ 
Balance at beginning of the financial year  7,849,452 6,524,947 1,324,505 

Surplus for the year  339,631          339,631   

Transfers to other reserves   (50,000) 50,000 

Balance at end of the financial year 9.4 8,189,083 6,814,578 1,374,505 

 

2021 Note Total 
 

$ 

Accumulated 
Surplus 

$ 

Other 
Reserves 

$ 

Balance at beginning of the financial year  7,025,600 5,751,095 1,274,505 

Surplus for the year  823,852 823,852  

Transfers to other reserves   (50,000) 50,000 

Balance at end of the financial year 9.4 7,849,452 6,524,947 1,324,505 

 
The above statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Statement of Cash Flows 
For the Year Ended 30 June 2022 

 

 Note 2021/2022 
Inflows/ 

(Outflows) 
$ 

2020/2021 
Inflows/ 

(Outflows) 
$ 

Cash flows from operating activities    

Member Council contributions    13,488,419  13,039,630 

State Government Library grant      2,605,225  2,516,355 

Payments to suppliers  (3,354,388)  (2,362,475) 

Payments to employees  (10,692,099)  (9,408,796) 

Interest received             3,923  6,246 

Library fees           64,234  47,181 

Other receipts          657,054  361,996 

Net GST payment  (843,543)  (872,484) 

Net cash provided by operating activities 9.2     1,928,825  3,327,653 

    

Cash flows from investing activities     

Payments for bookstock, plant and equipment  (1,654,884)  (1,719,418) 

Payment for investments  (3,000,000)  - 

Net cash used in investing activities  (4,654,884)  (1,719,418) 

    

Cash flows from financing activities     

Interest paid – lease liability  (14,166)  (16,388) 

Repayment of lease liabilities  (96,938)  (93,282) 

Net cash used in financial activities  (111,104)  (109,670) 

    

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  (2,837,163)  1,498,565 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year      7,188,413  5,689,848 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year      4,351,250  7,188,413 

 
The above cash flow statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Statement of Capital Works 
For the Year Ended 30 June 2022 

 

 Note 2022 
$ 

2021 
$ 

Bookstock    

Bookstock 6.1 1,608,177 1,540,907 

Total bookstock  1,608,177 1,540,907 

    

Plant and equipment    

Plant and equipment 6.1 46,707 178,511 

Total plant and equipment  46,707 178,511 

     

Total capital works expenditure  1,654,884 1,719,418 

    

Represented by:     

Renewal  1,654,884 1,719,418 

Total capital works expenditure  1,654,884 1,719,418 

 
The above statement of capital works should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Notes to the Financial Report 
for the Year Ended 30 June 2022 

 
Note 1 OVERVIEW 
Introduction 
The Yarra Plenty Regional Library Service (YPRL) was established by an Order of the Governor in Council on 11 January 1996 
and is a body corporate. 
The YPRL's main office is located at Unit 6, 1 Danaher Drive, South Morang, VIC 3572.   

 
Statement of compliance 

These financial statements are a general-purpose financial report that consists of a Comprehensive Income Statement, 
Balance Sheet, Statement of Changes in Equity, Statement of Cash Flows, Statement of Capital Works and Notes 
accompanying these financial statements. The general-purpose financial report complies with Australian Accounting 
Standards (AAS), other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board, the Local Government 
Act 1989 (as per the transitional provisions of the Local Government Act 2020) and the Local Government (Planning and 
Reporting) Regulations 2014. 
YPRL is a not-for-profit entity and therefore applies the additional AUS paragraphs applicable to a not-for-profit entity 
under the Australian Accounting Standards. 
 

Significant accounting policies 

(a) Basis of Accounting 
The accrual basis of accounting has been used in the preparation of these financial statements, except for the cash flow 
information, whereby assets, liabilities, equity, income, and expenses are recognised in the reporting period to which 
they relate, regardless of when cash is received or paid. 

 
The financial statements are based on the historical cost convention unless a different measurement basis is 
specifically disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. 

 
Judgements, estimates, and assumptions are required to be made about the carrying values of assets and liabilities 
that are not readily apparent from other sources.  The estimates and associated judgements are based on professional 
judgement derived from historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances.  Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

 
The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. The financial statements are in Australian 
dollars. The amounts presented in the financial statements have been rounded to the nearest dollars unless otherwise 
specified. Minor discrepancies in tables between totals and the sum of components are due to rounding. 

 
Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and also in future 
periods that are affected by the revision.  Judgements and assumptions made by management in the application of 
AAS's that have significant effects on the financial statements and estimates relate to: 

 
• the fair value of boockstock, and plant and equipment (refer to Note 6.2) 
• the determination of depreciation for bookstock, and plant and equipment (refer to Note 6.2) 
• the determination of employee provisions (refer to Note 5.4) 
• the determination of whether performance obligations are sufficiently specific so as to determine whether an 

arrangement is within the scope of AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers or AASB 1058 Income of 
Not-for-Profit Entities (refer to Note 3) 

• the determination, in accordance with AASB 16 Leases of the lease term, the estimation of the discount rate 
when not implicit in the lease and whether an arrangement is in substance short-term or low value (refer to Note 
5.7) 

• other areas requiring judgements 
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Notes to the Financial Report 
for the Year Ended 30 June 2022 

 
Unless otherwise stated, all accounting policies are consistent with those applied in the prior year.  Where 
appropriate, comparative figures have been amended to accord with current presentation, and disclosure has been 
made of any material changes to comparatives. 

 
(b) Impact of COVID-19 
 

During 2021/2022 the COVID-19 pandemic continued to impact on YPRL's operations.  YPRL’s branches were closed to 
public from July to October 2021 following lockdown directions.  
 
YPRL has noted the following significant impacts on its financial operations: 

 
Revenue reductions 

o Photocopy fees due to branch closures. 
o Reduction in community room hire revenue due to branch closures and other restrictions. 

 
Additional costs 

o Hot-spot WIFI support program for those families in our community without access to internet. 
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Notes to the Financial Report 
for the Year Ended 30 June 2022 

 
Note 2.1 Performance against budget 

The performance against budget compares YPRL’s financial plan, expressed through its annual budget, with actual 
performance. The Local Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2020 requires explanation of any material 
variances. YPRL has adopted a materiality threshold of more than $30,000 where further explanation is warranted. 
Explanations have not been provided for variations below the materiality threshold unless the variance is considered to be 
material because of its nature. 
These notes are prepared to meet the requirements of the Local Government Act 1989 and the Local Government 
(Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2020. 

 
2.1.1 Income and expenditure 

 Budget 
2021/2022  

$ 

Actual 
2021/2022 

$ 

Variance 
 

$ 

Reference 

Income     

Contributions to Regional Library Service – 
Member Councils 13,488,419 13,488,419 -  

Contributions to Regional Library Service – State 
Government 2,564,988 2,605,225 40,237 (1) 

Grants and other contributions 207,269 315,967 108,698 (2) 

Library fees 120,500 64,233 (56,267) (3) 

Interest 10,000 12,933 2,933  

Other revenue 216,424 359,934 143,510 (4) 

Total income 16,607,600 16,846,711 239,111  
     

Expenses        

Employee costs 10,579,550 10,553,448 26,102 (5) 

Library support centre office costs 14,800 18,304 (3,504)  

Depreciation 1,932,573 1,739,854 192,719 (6) 

Amortisation – right of use assets 108,427 108,427 -  

Administration costs 328,246 321,199 7,047  

Branch costs 1,031,594 1,049,634 (18,040) (7) 

Computer services 970,010 963,631 6,379  

Collection services 1,149,662 1,167,026 (17,364) (8) 

Net loss on disposal of assets - 180 (180)  

Finance costs – leases 14,846 14,166 680  

Other expenses 501,722 571,211 (69,489) (9) 

Total expenses 16,631,430 16,507,080 124,350  

Surplus/(Deficit) for the year (23,830) 339,631 363,461  
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Notes to the Financial Report 
for the Year Ended 30 June 2022 

 
(i) Explanation of material variations 

 
(1) In response to the support that Libraries provide to their communities through the coronavirus pandemic, State 

Government increased the annual contribution above CPI. 
(2) Specific 'one off' Government Grants and Other Contributions. Refer Note 3.3 for additional information 

regarding YPRL's Other Contributions. 
(3) Photocopying fees income decreased due to the COVID-19 pandemic. 
(4)  YPRL continued exploring new fee-for-service revenue streams. In the financial year 2021/22, YPRL agreed to 

provide library services to Warrnambool City Council. This new revenue stream is partially offset by additional 
expenditure. 

(5) COVID-19 impacted YPRL level of service and resulted in a net staffing cost saving. The favourable variance was 
partially offset by an increment on staff leave provisions. 

(6) Lower depreciation because of reduced capital expenditure in bookstock. 
(7) Additional cleaning cost at Ivanhoe branch fully offset by Other Revenue. 
(8) Unfavourable variance is the result of YPRL strategy to re-allocate funds from physical collection (capital 

expenditure budget) to e-content resources (part of operating cost). This variance was partially offset by savings 
from implementing more efficient mechanisms for processing book collections. 

(9) Additional expenditure related to Warrnambool City Council service agreement. 
 
2.1.2 Capital Works 
 

 Budget 
2021/2022 

$ 

Actual 
2021/2022 

 $ 

Variance 
 

$ 

Reference 

Bookstock 1,771,682 1,608,177 163,505 (1) 

Plant and equipment 88,150 46,707 41,443 (2) 

Total capital works expenditure 1,859,832 1,654,884 204,948  

     

Represented by:     

Renewal 1,859,832 1,654,884 204,948 (1),(2) 

Total capital works expenditure 1,859,832 1,654,884 204,948  

 
(i) Explanation of material variations 

 
(1) Reduced Capital Collection is mainly explained by YPRL strategy to re-allocate funds from physical collection 

(capital expenditure budget) to e-content resources (part of operating cost). 
(2) As a result of COVID-19 impact on overall supply chain, acquisition of plant and equipment will occur in the 

financial year 2022/2023. 
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Notes to the Financial Report 
for the Year Ended 30 June 2022 

 
Note 2.2 Analysis of YPRL results by program 

YPRL delivers its functions and activities through the following programs. 
 
Administration and management 
Administration and management provide efficient, effective, and proactive support services across the library service to 
enable the delivery of the library service vision and mission. The provision of these services includes finance services, 
digital information and technology, organisational development, procurement, strategy, and program delivery. 
 
Collections 
YPRL operates a regional library collection to take advantage of efficiencies in collection management, additional diversity 
of offering through enhanced collection size, and resource management due to enhanced buying power and economies of 
scale. 
 
Branches 
YPRL operates nine branches and the mobile library service across the three-member Councils. Branches are responsible 
for core service delivery including customer service and patron interactions, delivery of local programs, physical 
management, and local curation of collections. 
 

2022 Income 
 

$ 

Expenses 
 

$ 

Surplus/(Deficit) 
 

$ 

Grants (incl. 
in income) 

$ 

Total assets 
 

$ 
 

Administration and Management 
16,673,172 7,170,843 9,502,329 2,742,342 8,136,593 

Collections 57,239 2,743,326 (2,686,087) 57,239 3,012,858 
Branches 116,300 6,592,911 (6,476,611) - 766,735 
 16,846,711 16,507,080 339,631 2,799,581 11,916,186 

 
 

2021 Income 
 

$ 

Expenses 
 

$ 

Surplus/(Deficit) 
 

$ 

Grants (incl. 
in income) 

$ 

Total assets 
 

$ 
 

Administration and Management 15,825,298 6,369,007 9,456,291 2,649,605 8,052,327 
Collections         57,239   2,600,922  (2,543,683)          57,239      2,980,981  
Branches         88,871    6,177,627  (6,088,756)                 -           883,762  
 15,971,408  15,147,556         823,852      2,706,844       11,917,070 
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Notes to the Financial Report 
for the Year Ended 30 June 2022 

 
Note 3 Funding for the delivery of our services 
 
3.1 Contributions to Regional Library Service 
The following Member Council contributions were received during the year.  

 2022 
$ 

2021 
$ 

Shire of Nillumbik 2,999,166 2,877,600 
City of Banyule 5,376,491 5,007,315 
City of Whittlesea 5,112,762 5,154,715 
Total contributions to Regional Library Service 13,488,419 13,039,630 

Monetary contributions are recognised as revenue when YPRL obtains control over the contributed asset. 

Aggregate contributions of Member Councils 
The percentage aggregate contributions of Member Councils making up the Yarra Plenty Regional Library Service is 
as follows: 

 2022 
% 

2021 
% 

Shire of Nillumbik 21.35 21.29 
City of Banyule 40.84 40.90 
City of Whittlesea 37.81 37.81 
Total aggregate contribution of Member Councils 100.00 100.00 

 
3.2 Grants 
Grants were received in respect of the following: 

Summary of Grants 
2022 

$ 
2021 

$ 
Regional Library Service - State Government grant (i) 2,605,225 2,516,355 
Other grants 278,980 190,489 
Total grants received 2,884,205 2,706,844 
    

(a) Operating Grants    

Recurrent - State Government    

• Regional Library Service grant (i) 2,605,225 2,516,355 

• Local Priorities grant 137,117 133,250 

• Premiers Reading grant 57,239 57,239 

Total recurrent operating grants 2,799,581 2,706,844 

 

(i) The Regional Library Service State Government grant was apportioned on 
the following basis: 

  

 

Shire of Nillumbik 435,973 421,100 

City of Banyule 824,660 796,529 

City of Whittlesea 1,344,592 1,298,726 

Total Regional Library Service State Government grant 2,605,225 2,516,355 
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Notes to the Financial Report 
for the Year Ended 30 June 2022 

 

(b) Non-recurrent Grants 
2022 

$ 
2021 

$ 
Health & Wellbeing Innovation grant 77,960 - 

Vaccine Ambassadors Community Engagement grant 3,500 - 

Online Story Time grant 1,800 - 

Libraries Change Lives grant 1,364 - 

Total non-recurrent grants 84,624 - 

 
(c) Recognition of grant income 
Before recognising funding from government grants as revenue YPRL assesses whether there is a contract that is 
enforceable and has sufficiently specific performance obligations in accordance with AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with 
Customers. When both these conditions are satisfied, YPRL: 

• identifies each performance obligation relating to revenue under the contract/agreement 
• determines the transaction price 
• recognises a contract liability for its obligations under the agreement 
• recognises revenue as it satisfies its performance obligations, at the time or over time when services are 

rendered. 
Where the contract is not enforceable and/or does not have sufficiently specific performance obligations, YPRL applies 
AASB 1058 Income for Not-for-Profit Entities. 
 
Grant revenue with sufficiently specific performance obligations is recognised over time as the performance obligations 
specified in the underlying agreement are met. Where performance obligations are not sufficiently specific, grants are 
recognised on the earlier of receipt or when an unconditional right to receipt has been established.  Grants relating to 
capital projects are generally recognised progressively as the capital project is completed.  The following table provides a 
summary of the accounting framework under which grants are recognised. 
 

 2022 
$ 

2021 
$ 

Income recognised under AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-Profit Entities   
General purpose 2,886,005 2,706,844 
Revenue recognised under AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers   
Specific purpose grants - - 
 2,886,005 2,706,844 

 
3.3 Other contributions - Monetary 
 

Library After Dark contributions 30,000 31,000 
Other contributions 6,986 10,690 
Total other contributions 36,986 41,690 

 
Monetary contributions are recognised as revenue when YPRL obtains control over the contributed asset.  
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Notes to the Financial Report 
for the Year Ended 30 June 2022 

 
3.4 Other revenue 

 2022 
$ 

2021 
$ 

Sale of library services 177,813 65,006 

Cost reimbursements 122,924 25,997 

Miscellaneous 59,197 38,814 

Total other revenue 359,934 129,817 

 
Other revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and is recognised when YPRL gains 
control over the right to receive the income. 
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Notes to the Financial Report 
for the Year Ended 30 June 2022 

 
Note 4 The cost of delivering services 
 
4.1 (a) Employee costs 
The following items are included as employee costs: 

 2022 
$ 

2021 
$ 

Salaries 8,609,215     7,966,392  

Superannuation 912,352        848,853  

Workcover 38,889          42,605  

Annual leave/Long service leave 992,992        759,748  

Total Employee Costs 10,553,448 9,617,598 

 
4.1 (b) Superannuation contributions 
Contributions by YPRL to the following superannuation plans are detailed below: 

Scheme Type of scheme   
Vision Super Defined benefit 76,808 115,170 

Other funds Accumulation 835,544 733,413 

Total employer contributions  912,352 848,853 

    

Defined benefit fund:    

Employer contributions payable at the reporting date (Vision Super) - - 
   
Accumulation funds:   

Employer contributions payable at the reporting date - 205,458 
Refer to Note 9.3 for further information relating to YPRL’s superannuation obligations. 

4.2 Depreciation and amortisation expense 
 
Depreciation expense for the year was charged in respect of: 
 

Plant and equipment 163,554 192,448 
Bookstock 1,576,300 1,604,525 
Total depreciation expense 1,739,854 1,796,973 

 

Amortisation expense for the year was charged in respect of: 
 

Right-of-use assets 108,427    108,642  
Total amortisation expense 108,427 108,642 
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4.3 Net loss on disposal of assets 

 2022 
$ 

2021 
$ 

Written down value of assets disposed 180 - 
Total net loss on disposal of assets 180 - 

 
4.4 Finance costs – Leases 
 

Interest – lease liabilities 14,166 16,388 
Total finance costs 14,166 16,388 

 
4.5 Other expenses 
 

Community engagement * 83,319 101,286 
Organisation development ** 170,626 107,620 
Grant expenditure 164,129 97,549 
Auditors' remuneration - VAGO - audit of the financial statements 21,300 5,500 
Auditors' remuneration - Internal Audit 12,450 550 
Other materials and services 119,387 88,464 
Total other expenses 571,211 400,969 

* Community engagement provides for various community programs, marketing, and promotional materials. 
** Organisation development provides for recruitment, training, and organisational development activities. 
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Note 5 Our financial position 

5.1 Financial assets 
 2022 

$ 
2021 

$ 
(a) Cash and cash equivalent assets   
Cash on hand and at bank 551,250 3,092,939 
Interest bearing deposits 3,800,000 4,095,474 
Total cash and cash equivalent assets 4,351,250 7,188,413 

 
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits at call, and other highly liquid investments with original 
maturities of three months or less. 
 

(b) Other financial assets   
Term deposits - current 3,000,000 - 
Total other financial assets 3,000,000 - 
Total financial assets 7,351,250 7,188,413 

 
Other financial assets are valued at fair value, at balance date.  Term deposits are measured at original cost. Any unrealised 
gains and losses on holdings at balance date are recognised as either a revenue or expense. 
Other financial assets include term deposits and those with original maturity dates of three to 12 months are classified as 
current. 
 
YPRL’s cash and cash equivalents are subject to several external restrictions that limit amounts available for discretionary 
use. These include: 

Trust deposits (refer Note 5.3) 4,650 4,595 
Total restricted funds 4,650 4,595 
Total unrestricted cash and cash equivalents 4,346,600 7,183,818 

 
Intended allocations 
Although not externally restricted the following amounts have been allocated for specific purposes by YPRL: 
 

Employee provisions 2,247,125 2,011,944 
Asset replacement reserve 1,374,505 1,324,505 
 3,621,630 3,336,449 

 
Users of the financial report should refer to Notes 5.6 and 5.7 for details of existing commitments 
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(c) Trade and other receivables 
 

Non-statutory receivable   

 
2022 

$ 
2021 

$ 
Community organisations 56,387 28,530 
Fines and other fees outstanding - 149,198 
Provision for doubtful debts - (149,198) 
Total trade and other receivables 56,387 28,530 

 
Short term receivables are carried at invoice amount. A provision for doubtful debts is recognised when there is objective 
evidence that an impairment has occurred.  Long term receivables are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest 
rate method. 

 
(d) Ageing of receivables 
 
The ageing of collectable trade and other receivables per provision matrix: 
 

Current (not yet due) 56,387 28,530 
Past due by up to 30 days -              -    
Past due between 31 and 180 days - 2,016 
Past due between 181 and 365 days - 40,425 
Past due by more than 1 year - 106,757 
Total trade and other receivables 56,387 177,725 

 
(e) Ageing of individually impaired receivables 
 
At balance date, other debtors representing financial assets with a nominal value of $149,198 (2021: $0) were impaired.  
They individually have been impaired as a result of their doubtful collection. 
 
The ageing of receivables that have been individually determined as impaired at reporting date was: 
 

Current (not yet due)              -                 -    
Past due by up to 30 days              -                 -    
Past due between 31 and 180 days - 2,016 
Past due between 181 and 365 days - 40,425 
Past due by more than 1 year - 106,757 
Total impared receivables - 149,198 

 

5.2 Other assets 
 

Prepayments 46,601 44,602 
Total other assets 46,601 44,602 
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5.3 Trade and other payables 
 
Current 

  

 
 
Non-statutory payables 

2022 
$ 

 

2021 
$ 

 
Payables and accruals 430,684 943,932 
Trust deposits 4,650 4,595 
 
Statutory payables  

 

Net GST 212,250 202,818 
Total trade and other payables 647,584 1,151,345 

 
Amounts received as deposits controlled by YPRL are recognised as trust funds until they are returned, transferred in 
accordance with the purpose of the receipt, or forfeited. Trust funds that are forfeited, resulting in YPRL gaining control of 
the funds, are to be recognised as revenue at the time of forfeit. 
 

5.4 Employee provisions 
 

2022 Annual 
Leave 

$ 

Long Service 
Leave 

$ 

Total 
 

$ 
Balance at beginning of financial year 736,043 1,354,492 2,090,535 
Additional provisions 695,892 215,804 911,696 
Amounts used (537,088) (114,424) (651,512) 
Balance at the end of the financial year 894,847 1,455,872 2,350,719 

 
 

2021 Annual 
Leave 

$ 

Long Service 
Leave 

$ 

Total 
 

$ 
Balance at beginning of financial year 668,595 1,396,874 2,065,469 
Additional provisions             679,886              113,410  793,296  
Amounts used (612,438)  (155,792)              (768,230) 
Balance at the end of the financial year             736,043           1,354,492  2,090,535  
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 2022 

$ 
2021 

$ 
Current provisions expected to be wholly settled within 12 months   
Annual leave 778,517        638,218  
Long service leave 405,683        373,184  
 1,184,200    1,011,402  

 
Current provisions expected to be wholly settled after 12 months   

Annual leave 116,330           97,825  
Long service leave 946,595        902,717  
 1,062,925 1,000,542 
   
Total current employee provisions 2,247,125     2,011,944 

 
Non-current   

Long service leave 103,594 78,591 
Total non-current employee provisions 103,594 78,591 

 
Aggregate carrying amount of employee provisions:   
Current 2,247,125     2,011,944  
Non-current 103,594           78,591  
Total aggregate carrying amount of employee provisions 2,350,719     2,090,535  

 

The calculation of employee costs and benefits includes all relevant on-costs and are calculated as follows at reporting 
date. 

 

Annual leave 

A liability for annual leave is recognised in the provision for employee benefits as a current liability because YPRL does not 
have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability. Liabilities for annual leave are measured at: 

- nominal value if YPRL expects to wholly settle the liability within 12 months 

- present value if YPRL does not expect to wholly settle within 12 months. 

 

Long service leave 

Liability for long service leave (LSL) is recognised in the provision for employee benefits. Unconditional LSL is disclosed as a 
current liability as the Council does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement. Unconditional LSL is measured at 
nominal value if expected to be settled within 12 months or at present value if not expected to be settled within 12 
months. Conditional LSL that has been accrued, where an employee is yet to reach a qualifying term of employment, is 
disclosed as a non-current liability and measured at present value. 

Key assumptions: 

– discount rates applied as per Department of Treasury and Finance Victoria 30/06/2022 

– inflation rate (3.850%) as per Department of Treasury and Finance Victoria 30/06/2022 
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5.5 Financing Facilities  
YPRL does not have any credit standby arrangements or unused loan facilities. 
 
YPRL does have credit card facilities with a credit limit of $35,000 at 30 June 2022 with $10,555.15 outstanding. 
 
YPRL has no other borrowings. 
 
5.6 Commitments 
YPRL has entered into the following commitments. Commitments are not recognised in the Balance Sheet. Commitments 
are disclosed at their nominal value and presented inclusive of the GST payable. 

 
 2022 

$ 
2021 

$ 
Courier and Cleaning Contract Expenditure 995,547 1,151,043 

 995,547 1,151,043 
 
The periods expected to elapse from the reporting date to the expected date of payments are as follows: 
 

Not later than one year 557,340 464,414 
Greater than one year but not later than five years 438,207 686,629 
 995,547 1,151,043 

 
5.7 Leases 

YPRL has applied AASB 16 Leases. At inception of a contract, YPRL assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A 
contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period in 
exchange for consideration. To identify whether a contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset, it is 
necessary to assess whether: 
– The contract involves the use of an identified asset; 
– The customer has the right to obtain substantially all the economic benefits from use of the asset throughout the period 

of use; and 
– The customer has the right to direct the use of the asset.  
This policy is applied to contracts entered into, or changed, on or after 1 July 2019. 
 
As a lessee, YPRL recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. The right-of-use 
asset is initially measured at cost which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for: 
– any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received; plus  
– any initial direct costs incurred; and  
– an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site on which 

it is located. 
The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the commencement date to the 
earlier of the end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end of the lease term. The estimated useful lives of right-
of-use assets are determined on the same basis as those of property, plant and equipment. In addition, the right-of-use 
asset is periodically reduced by impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for certain measurements of the lease liability.  
 
The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement 
date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, an appropriate 
incremental borrowing rate. Generally, YPRL uses an appropriate incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate. 
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Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following: 
– Fixed payments 
– Variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the 

commencement date; 
– Amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee; and 
– The exercise price under a purchase option that YPRL is reasonably certain to exercise, lease payments in an optional 

renewal period if YPRL is reasonably certain to exercise an extension option, and penalties for early termination of a 
lease unless YPRL is reasonably certain not to terminate early. 
 

When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the right-
of-use asset or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero. 
 

Right-of-use Assets ICT(*) 
$ 

Buildings 
$ 

Total 
$ 

Balance at 1 July 2021 47,414 743,368 790,782 
Additions - - - 
Amortisation charge (25,830) (82,597) (108,427) 
Balance at 30 June 2022 21,584 660,772 682,356 

(*) Information and Communications Technology 
 

Lease Liabilities 
2022 

$ 
2021 

$ 
Maturity analysis – undiscounted cash flows   
Less than one year 106,556 111,105 
One to five years 368,197 453,643 
More than five years 305,907 305,907 
Total undiscounted lease liabilities at 30 June: 780,660 870,655 

 
Lease liabilities included in Balance Sheet 30 June: 
 

Current 94,728 96,938 
Non-current 634,072 728,800 
Total lease liabilities 728,800 825,738 

 
Short-term and low value leases 
YPRL has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for short-term leases which have a lease term of 
12 months or less and leases of low-value assets (individual assets worth less than $10,000), including ICT equipment. YPRL 
recognises the lease payments associated with these leases as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 
 

Expense relating to:   
Leases of low value assets 312,119 297,612 
Total short-term and low value leases 312,119 297,612 
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Non-cancellable lease commitments – Short-term and low-value leases 
Commitments for minimum lease payments for short-term and low-value leases are payable as follows: 

 

Payable: 2022 
$ 

2021 
$ 

Within one year 277,457 271,427 
Later than one year but not later than five years 150,733 361,004 
Total non-cancellable lease commitments – short-term and low-value leases 428,191 632,431 
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Note 6 Assets we manage 
6.1 Bookstock, and plant and equipment 

Movement in the carrying amounts for each class of asset between the beginning and the end of the financial year. 

2021/2022 Bookstock 
$ 

Plant & Equip. 
$ 

Total 
$ 

At Cost 1 July 2021 7,678,741 3,512,773 11,191,514 
Accumulated Depreciation 1 July 2021 (4,697,760) (2,629,011) (7,326,771) 
 2,980,981 883,762 3,864,743 
    
Movements in carrying value    
Acquisition of assets at cost 1,608,177 46,707 1,654,884 
Cost value of assets disposed (1,663,066) (7,708) (1,670,774) 
 (54,889) 38,999 (15,890) 
    
Movements in accumulated depreciation    
Depreciation Expense (1,576,300) (163,554) (1,739,854) 
Accumulated depreciation of assets disposed 1,663,066 7,528 1,670,594 
 86,766 (156,026) (69,260) 
    
At cost 30 June 2022 7,623,852 3,551,772 11,175,624 
Accumulated depreciation at 30 June 2022 (4,610,994) (2,785,037) (7,396,031) 
Carrying amount at 30 June 2022 3,012,858 766,735 3,779,593 

 
 

2020/2021 Bookstock 
$ 

Plant & Equip. 
$ 

Total 
$ 

At Cost 1 July 2020 7,784,554 3,334,262 11,118,816 
Accumulated Depreciation 1 July 2020 (4,739,955) (2,436,563) (7,176,518) 
 3,044,599 897,699 3,942,298 
    
Movements in carrying value    
Acquisition of assets at cost 1,540,907 178,511 1,719,418 
Cost value of assets disposed (1,646,720) - (1,646,720) 
 (105,813) 178,511 72,698 
    
Movements in accumulated depreciation    
Depreciation Expense (1,604,525) (192,448) (1,796,973) 
Accumulated depreciation of assets disposed 1,646,720 - 1,646,720 
 42,195 (192,448) (150,253) 
    
At cost 30 June 2021 7,678,741 3,512,773 11,191,514 
Accumulated depreciation at 30 June 2021 (4,697,760) (2,629,011) (7,326,771) 
Carrying amount at 30 June 2021 2,980,981 883,762 3,864,743 
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6.2 Recognition and measurement of bookstock, and plant and equipment 

Acquisition 
The purchase method of accounting is used for all acquisitions of assets, being the fair value of assets provided as 
consideration at the date of acquisition plus any incidental costs attributable to the acquisition. Fair value is the amount 
that would be received to sell an asset (or paid to transfer a liability) in an orderly transaction between market participants 
at the measurement value. 
In accordance with YPRL’s policy, the threshold limits detailed in Note 6.3 have applied when recognising assets within an 
applicable asset class and unless otherwise stated are consistent with the prior year. 
 
6.3 Depreciation  
Collection assets and plant and equipment having limited useful lives are systematically depreciated over their useful 
lives to YPRL in a manner which reflects consumption of the service potential embodied in those assets. Estimates of 
useful lives within each major asset classes are reassessed annually. Depreciation rates and methods are reviewed 
annually. 
Where assets have separate identifiable components that are subject to regular replacement, these components are 
assigned distinct useful lives and residual values and a separate depreciation rate is determined for each component. 
Straight line depreciation is charged based on the useful life for each asset. 
Depreciation periods used are listed below and are consistent with the prior year unless otherwise stated. 

 Depreciation Periods Threshold Limits 
Plant & Equipment 3 to 30 years $500 
Bookstock collection 3 to 5 years $0 

 
Repairs and maintenance 
Routine maintenance, repair costs, and minor renewal costs are expensed as incurred. Where the repair relates to the 
replacement of a component of an asset and the cost exceeds the capitalisation threshold the cost is capitalised and 
depreciated. The carrying value of the replaced asset is expensed. 
 
6.4 Impairment of Assets   

At each reporting date, YPRL reviews the carrying value of its assets to determine whether there is any indication that 
these assets have been impaired. If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset, being the higher of the 
asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use, is compared to the assets carrying value. Any excess of the assets 
carrying value over its recoverable amount is expensed to the comprehensive income statement, unless the asset is carried 
at the revalued amount in which case, the impairment loss is recognised directly against the revaluation surplus in respect 
of the same class of asset to the extent that the impairment loss does not exceed the amount in the revaluation surplus for 
that same class of asset.  
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Note 7 People and relationships 
7.1 YPRL and key management remuneration 

(a) Key Management Personnel 
 

Details of persons holding the position of key management personnel, at any time during the year are: 

 

Board Members 2022 
No. 

2021 
No. 

Tom Melican (Banyule City Council)  - 1 
Peter Clarke (Nillumbik Shire Council)  - 1 
Karen Egan (Nillumbik Shire Council)  1 1 
Alison Champion (Banyule City Council) 1 1 
Lydia Wilson (City of Whittlesea) 1 1 
Bruce Billson (City of Whittlesea) - 1 
Pieta Duncan (City of Whittlesea) - 1 
Kate McCaughey (City of Whittlesea)  1 1 
Natalie Duffy (Nillumbik Shire Council) - Resigned 1 - 
Frances Eyre (Nillumbik Shire Council) 1 - 
Elizabeth Nealy (Banyule City Council) 1 - 
Total Board Members 7 8 

 

   
Council Delegates   
Corrienne Nichols 1 1 
Belgin Besim (Resigned) - 1 
Kath Brackett 1 1 
Ben Waterhouse (Resigned) 1 1 
Anthony Traill - Appointed March 2022 1 - 
Total Council Delegates 4 4 

 
Executive Management Personnel   
Chief Executive Officer – J Cowell 1 1 
Executive Manager – Corporate Services – Kate Karrasch 1 1 
Executive Manager - Public Participation - Robyn Ellard 1 1 
Executive Manager – Technology & Assets – Sajeeva Tennekoon 1 1 
Executive Manager – Public Participation – Lisa Dempster (Resigned August 2020) - 1 
Executive Manager - Corporate Services - Claire Tootell (Resigned January 2022) 1 1 
Total Executive Management Personnel 5 6 
   
Total Key Management Personnel 16 18 
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(b) Remuneration of Key Management Personnel 
Total remuneration of key management personnel was as follows: 
 

 2022 
$ 

2021 
$ 

Short-term benefits 694,011 723,663 
Long-term benefits 14,600 4,874 
Post-employment benefits 62,612 60,573 
Termination benefits - - 
Total 771,223 789,110 

 
The numbers of key management personnel whose total remuneration from the YPRL, fall within the following bands: 

 2022 
No. 

2021 
No. 

NIL 11 12 
$30,000 – $39,999 - 1 
$60,001 – $69,999 1 - 
$80,000 – $99,999 1 1 
$100,000 – $139,999 1 1 
$140,000 – $159,999 1 1 
$160,000 – $169,999 - 1 
$220,000 – $229,999 1 1 
 16 18 

 
(c) Transactions with related parties  
During the period YPRL entered into the following transactions (Excl GST) with related parties. 
 

Expenditure 

2022 
$ 

2021 
$ 

Fuel, MV Repairs, Training & Other paid to City of Whittlesea 13,048          10,853  
Branch utilities (Ivanhoe, Rosanna, Watsonia) paid to Banyule City Council 86,887 - 
Vehicle Running Cost & Other paid to Banyule City Council 9,852            5,306  
Eltham Electricity paid to Nillumbik Shire Council 53,211          54,784  
Contribution for Diamond Valley refurb. paid to Nillumbik Shire Council 45,000 130,000 
Total Related Party Expenditure 207,997        200,944  

 
Revenue   
Council Library Contribution received from City of Whittlesea 5,112,762     5,154,715  
Lalor Community Room contribution received from City of Whittlesea 12,000          12,000  
Lalor Toy Library contribution received from City of Whittlesea 5,400            5,400  
Other monies received from City of Whittlesea -               686  
Council Library Contribution received from Banyule City Council 5,376,461     5,007,315  
Ivanhoe cleaning cost reimbursement received from Banyule City Council 83,306 - 
Watsonia Library After Dark contribution received from Banyule City Council 30,000          15,000  
Other monies received from Banyule City Council  13,944          25,997  
Council Library Contribution received from Nillumbik Shire Council 2,999,166     2,877,600  
Other monies received from Nillumbik Shire Council 908          10,000  
Total Related Party Revenue 13,633,947   13,108,713  
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(d) Outstanding balances with related parties 

  

  2022 
$ 

Monies owed to Banyule City Council  12,167              
Monies owed by Banyule City Council           21,245  

 
(e) Loans to/from related parties 
There are no outstanding loans to/from related parties. 
 
(f) Commitments to/from related parties 
There are no outstanding commitments to/from related parties. 
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Note 8 Managing uncertainties 
 
8.1 Contingent assets and liabilities 
 
Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised in the Balance Sheet, but are disclosed and if quantifiable, 
are measured at nominal value. Contingent assets and liabilities are presented inclusive of GST receivable or payable, 
respectively. 
 
(a) Contingent assets 
Contingent assets are possible assets that arise from past events, whose existence will be confirmed only by the 
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of YPRL.  
As at 30 June 2022, YPRL is not aware of any contingent assets. 
 
(b) Contingent liabilities 
Contingent liabilities are: 

- possible obligations that arise from past events, whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Council; or 
- present obligations that arise from past events but are not recognised because: 
- it is not probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the 
obligation; or 
- the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability. 

As at 30 June 2022, YPRL is are not aware of any contingent liabilities. 
 
(c) Superannuation 
YPRL has obligations under a defined benefit superannuation scheme that may result in the need to make additional 
contributions to the scheme, matters relating to this potential obligation are outlined below. As a result of the volatility 
in financial markets the likelihood of making such contributions in future periods exists. 
 
(c) Liability Mutual Insurance 
YPRL is a participant of the MAV Liability Mutual Insurance (LMI) Scheme. The LMI scheme provides public liability and 
professional indemnity insurance cover. The LMI scheme states that each participant will remain liable to make further 
contributions to the scheme in respect of any insurance year in which it was a participant to the extent of its 
participant’s share of any shortfall in the provision set aside in respect of that insurance year, and such liability will 
continue whether or not the participant remains a participant in future insurance years.  
 
8.2 Financial instruments 
 
(a) Objectives and policies 
YPRL’s principal financial instruments comprise cash assets, term deposits, receivables (excluding statutory receivables), 
and payables (excluding statutory payables). Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, 
including the criteria for recognition, the basis of measurement and the basis on which income and expenses are 
recognised, in respect of each class of financial asset, financial liability and equity instrument is disclosed in the notes of 
the financial statements. Risk management is carried out by senior management under policies approved by YPRL. These 
policies include identification and analysis of the risk exposure to YPRL and appropriate procedures, controls and risk 
minimisation. 
 
(b) Market risk 
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of YPRL’s financial instruments will fluctuate because of 
changes in market prices. YPRL’s exposure to market risk is primarily through interest rate risk with only insignificant 
exposure to other price risks and no exposure to foreign currency risk.  
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(c) Interest rate risk 
Interest rate risk refers to the risk that the value of a financial instrument or cash flows associated with the instrument will 
fluctuate due to changes in market interest rates. YPRL does not hold any interest-bearing financial instruments that are 
measured at fair value, and therefore has no exposure to fair value interest rate risk. Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk 
that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. YPRL has 
minimal exposure to cash flow interest rate risk through its cash and deposits that are at floating rates.  
Investment of surplus funds is made with approved financial institutions under the Local Government Act 1989. 
There has been no significant change in YPRL’s exposure, or its objectives, policies, and processes for managing interest 
rate risk or the methods used to measure this risk from the previous reporting period. 
Interest rate movements have not been sufficiently significant during the year to have an impact on YPRL’s year end result. 
 
(d) Credit risk 
Credit risk is the risk that a contracting entity will not complete its obligations under a financial instrument and cause YPRL 
to make a financial loss. YPRL has exposure to credit risk on some financial assets included in the balance sheet.  
Receivables consist of a large number of customers. 
There are no material financial assets which are individually determined to be impaired. 
 
(e) Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk includes the risk that, as a result of our operational liquidity requirements or we will not have sufficient funds 
to settle a transaction when required, we will be forced to sell a financial asset at below value or may be unable to settle 
or recover a financial asset. 
To help reduce these risks, YPRL: 
– have a liquidity portfolio structure that requires surplus funds to be invested within various bands of liquid instruments; 

and 
– monitor budget to actual performance on a regular basis. 
With the exception of borrowings, all financial liabilities are expected to be settled within normal terms of trade. 
Unless otherwise stated, the carrying amounts of financial instruments reflect their fair value. 
 
(f) Sensitivity disclosure analysis 
Taking into account past performance, future expectations, economic forecasts, and management’s knowledge and 
experience of the financial markets, YPRL believes the following movements are ‘reasonably possible’ over the next 12 
months: 
– A shift of up to + 2% to -0% in market interest rates (AUD) from year-end rates of 0.85%. 
These movements will not have a material impact on the valuation of YPRL’s financial assets and liabilities, nor will they 
have a material impact on the results of YPRL’s operations. 

 
8.3 Fair value hierarchy 
YPRL financial assets and liabilities are measured at amortised cost. 
YPRL measures certain assets and liabilities at fair value where required or permitted by Australian Accounting Standards. 
AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement, aims to improve consistency and reduce complexity by providing a definition of fair 
value and a single source of fair value measurement and disclosure requirements for use across Australian Accounting 
Standards. 
 

8.4 Events occurring after balance date 
 
No matters have occurred after balance date that require disclosure in the financial report. 
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Note 9 Other matters 
Note 9.1 Relevant financial ratios 

 2022 2021 2020 
Working capital ratio assess YPRL’s ability to meet current 
commitments 

   

Current assets/Current liabilities 2.49 2.23 2.10 
    
Capital replacement ratio assess YPRL’s expenditure 
against depreciation 

   

Capital spend/Depreciation 0.90 0.90 0.80 
 
 
9.2 Reconciliation of cash flows from operating activities to surplus/(deficit) 

 2022 
$ 

2021 
$ 

Surplus/(deficit) for the year 339,631 823,852 
Depreciation/amortisation 1,848,281 1,905,615 
(Profit)/Loss on disposal of property, infrastructure, plant and equipment 180 - 
Interest expense on financing activities 14,166 16,388 
   
Change in assets and liabilities:   
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables (27,857) 23,966 
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments (1,999) 55,947 
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables (503,761) 476,819 
Increase/(decrease) in provisions 260,184 25,066 
Net cash provided by operating activities 1,928,825 3,327,653 

 
9.3 Superannuation 
YPRL makes the majority of its employer superannuation contributions in respect of its employees to the Local Authorities 
Superannuation Fund (the Fund). This Fund has two categories of membership, accumulation and defined benefit, each of 
which is funded differently. Obligations for contributions to the Fund are recognised as an expense in the Comprehensive 
Income Statement when they are made or due. 
 
Accumulation 
The Fund's accumulation category, Vision MySuper/Vision Super Saver, receives both employer and employee 
contributions on a progressive basis. Employer contributions are normally based on a fixed percentage of employee 
earnings (for the year ended 30 June 2022, this was 10.0% as required under Superannuation Guarantee (SG) legislation 
(2021: 9.5%). 
 
Defined Benefit 
YPRL does not use defined benefit accounting for its defined benefit obligations under the Fund's Defined Benefit category. 
This is because the Fund's Defined Benefit category is a pooled multi-employer sponsored plan. 
There is no proportional split of the defined benefit liabilities, assets, or costs between the participating employers as the 
defined benefit obligation is a floating obligation between the participating employers and the only time that the 
aggregate obligation is allocated to specific employers is when a call is made.  As a result, the level of participation of Yarra 
Plenty Regional Library Service in the Fund cannot be measured as a percentage compared with other participating 
employers. Therefore, the Fund Actuary is unable to allocate benefit liabilities, assets, and costs between employers for 
the purposes of AASB 119. 
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Funding arrangements 
YPRL makes employer contributions to the Defined Benefit category of the Fund at rates determined by the Trustee on the 
advice of the Fund Actuary.  
As at 30 June 2021, an interim actuarial investigation was held as the Fund provides lifetime pensions in the Defined 
Benefit category.  
The vested benefit index (VBI) of the Defined Benefit category of which YPRL is a contributing employer was 109.8%.  The 
financial assumptions used to calculate the VBI were: 
 
Net investment returns 4.75% pa 
Salary information 2.75% pa  
Price inflation (CPI) 2.25% pa. 
 
As at 30 June 2022, an interim actuarial investigation is underway as the Fund provides lifetime pensions in the Defined 
Benefit category.  It is expected to be completed by 31 October 2022. 
Vision Super has advised that the VBI at 30 June 2022 was 102.2%. YPRL was notified of the 30 June 2022 VBI during August 
2021 (2020: August 2020). The financial assumptions used to calculate this VBI were: 
 
Net investment returns 5.5% pa 
Salary information 2.5% pa to 30 June 2023, and 3.5% pa thereafter 
Price inflation (CPI) 3.0% pa. 
 
The VBI is used as the primary funding indicator.  Because the VBI was above 100%, the 30 June 2021 actuarial 
investigation determined the Defined Benefit category was in a satisfactory financial position and that no change was 
necessary to the Defined Benefit category’s funding arrangements from prior years. 
 
Employer contributions 

(a) Regular contributions 
On the basis of the results of the 2021 interim actuarial investigation conducted by the Fund Actuary, YPRL makes 
employer contributions to the Fund’s Defined Benefit category at rates determined by the Fund’s Trustee.  For the 
year ended 30 June 2022, this rate was 10.0% of members' salaries (9.5% in 2020/21).  This rate is expected to 
increase in line with any increases in the SG contribution rate and was reviewed as part of the 30 June 2020 
triennial valuation. 
In addition, YPRL reimburses the Fund to cover the excess of the benefits paid as a consequence of retrenchment 
above the funded resignation or retirement benefit. 
(b) Funding calls 
If the Defined Benefit category is in an unsatisfactory financial position at an actuarial investigation or the Defined 
Benefit category’s VBI is below its shortfall limit at any time other than the date of the actuarial investigation, the 
Defined Benefit category has a shortfall for the purposes of SPS 160 and the Fund is required to put a plan in place 
so that the shortfall is fully funded within three years of the shortfall occurring.  The Fund monitors its VBI on a 
quarterly basis and the Fund has set its shortfall limit at 97%. 
In the event that the Fund Actuary determines that there is a shortfall based on the above requirement, the Fund’s 
participating employers (including YPRL) are required to make an employer contribution to cover the shortfall. 
Using the agreed methodology, the shortfall amount is apportioned between the participating employers based on 
the pre-1 July 1993 and post-30 June 1993 service liabilities of the Fund’s Defined Benefit category, together with 
the employer’s payroll at 30 June 1993 and at the date the shortfall has been calculated. 
Due to the nature of the contractual obligations between the participating employers and the Fund, and that the 
Fund includes lifetime pensioners and their reversionary beneficiaries, it is unlikely that the Fund will be wound up. 
If there is a surplus in the Fund, the surplus cannot be returned to the participating employers. 
In the event that a participating employer is wound-up, the defined benefit obligations of that employer will be 
transferred to that employer’s successor. 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 3D64906E-3DD9-49FA-9CE4-F13954949DA2



110

Yarra Plenty Regional Library Service 
2021/2022 Financial Report 

37 | P a g e  
 

Notes to the Financial Report 
for the Year Ended 30 June 2022 

 
The 2021 triennial actuarial investigation surplus amounts 
An actuarial investigation is conducted annually for the Defined Benefit category of which YPRL is a contributing employer.  
Generally, a full actuarial investigation is conducted every three years and interim actuarial investigations are conducted 
for each intervening year.  An interim investigation was conducted as at 30 June 2021 and the last full investigation was 
conducted as at 30 June 2020.  
The Fund’s actuarial investigation identified the following for the Defined Benefit category of which YPRL is a contributing 
employer: 
 

 2021 
(Interim) 

$m 

2020 
(Triennial) 

$m 
A VBI surplus $214.7 $100.0 
A total service liability surplus $270.3 $200.0 

A discounted accrued benefits surplus $285.2 $217.8 

 
The VBI surplus means that the market value of the fund’s assets supporting the defined benefit obligations exceed the 
vested benefits that the defined benefit members would have been entitled to if they had all exited on 30 June 2021. 
The total service liability surplus means that the current value of the assets in the Fund’s Defined Benefit category plus 
expected future contributions exceeds the value of expected future benefits and expenses as at 30 June 2021. 
The discounted accrued benefit surplus means that the current value of the assets in the Fund’s Defined Benefit category 
exceeds the value of benefits payable in the future but accrued in respect of service to 30 June 2021. 
YPRL was notified of the 30 June 2021 VBI during August 2021 (2020: August 2020). 
 
The 2022 interim actuarial investigation 
An interim actuarial investigation is being conducted for the Fund’s position as at 30 June 2022 as the Fund provides 
lifetime pensions in the Defined Benefit category. It is anticipated that this actuarial investigation will be completed by 
October 2022.  YPRL was notified of the 30 June 2022 VBI during August 2022 (2021: August 2021). 
 
Superannuation contributions 
Contributions by YPRL (excluding any unfunded liability payments) to the above superannuation plans for the financial year 
ended 30 June 2022 are detailed below: 
 
Contributions by YPRL to the above superannuation plans for the financial year ended 30 June 2021 are detailed below: 
 

Scheme Type of Scheme Rate 2022 
$ 

2021 
$ 

Vision Super Defined Benefit 2022 10.0% 
2021 9.5% 

76,808 115,170 

Super funds Accumulation Fund 2022 10.0% 
2021 9.5% 

835,544 733,413 

 
 
There were no contributions outstanding, and no loans issued from or to the above schemes as at 30 June 2022. 
The expected contributions to be paid to the Defined Benefit category of Vision Super for the year ended 30 June 2023 is 
$79,800. 
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9.4 Accumulated surplus 
 

 Balance at 
Beginning of 

Period 
$ 

Increment/ 
(Decrement) 

$ 

Balance at End 
of Period 

$ 

Members Contributions (i) 3,770,080 - 3,770,080 
Surplus from previous years 2,754,867 289,631 3,044,498 
Asset replacement reserve (ii) 1,324,505 50,000 1,374,505 
Total Contributions 7,849,452 339,631 8,189,083 

(i)  This represents the value of the initial contribution of net assets made by the Member Councils when it was 
established in 1996. 

(ii) Reserve established for addressing renewal and replacement of capital assets. 
 

 
Note 10 Change in accounting policy 
 
There have been no changes to accounting policies in the 2021-22 year. 
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YPRL highlights

Local Youth Takeover Ivanhoe 
Library and Cultural Hub
All three of the Member Councils of Yarra 
Plenty Regional Library (YPRL) have 
identified mental health as the top issue 
young people are currently experiencing. 
The top five most critical causes are 
anxiety, school stress, exclusion, 
loneliness, and general wellbeing.

In mid-2021, YPRL began a codesign 
initiative to explore how our library 
spaces could be more welcoming, with 
teens being one of our target audiences. 
Out of these codesign sessions with 
young people in Banyule, Nillumbik, and 
Whittlesea, we learnt that they wanted 
to feel an ownership over library spaces, 
gather together, break the rules, and be 

independent. A Youth Takeover event was 
chosen as one of the best ideas for the 
group to implement.

Banyule Youth Services (BYS) had an 
established Role-Playing Game (RPG) 
program that was reaching capacity and 
required a larger venue that would allow 
its existing older members to continue 
building connections and developing 
their independence. YPRL was looking 
to change young people’s perceptions 
about what they can do in libraries and 
provide opportunities for them to take 
ownership of the community spaces.

Ivanhoe Library and Cultural Hub (ILCH) 
and BYS staff partnered to develop a 
new program for youth, by splitting the 
existing RPG program audience, and 
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creating a new group specifically for 
older members aged 16–25 in the library 
space, to be known as the Game Night 
Takeover. In response to input from 
codesign sessions, this program runs  
on the last Friday of every month from 
6.00 pm to 9.00 pm. This fed into the 
group’s desire to break rules and take 
over our spaces, as it occurs outside of 
normal opening hours with the branch 
usually closing at 6.00 pm on a Friday.

Game Night Takeovers utilise games 
as a common shared interest for social 
connection with a variety of resources 
made available by the library. RPGs have 
been extremely popular among young 
people with the recent rise of Dungeons 
& Dragons in popular culture. The game is 
well suited to a public library environment, 
as it requires minimal resources, builds 
important social skills, and contains a 
literacy element — the rich communal 
storytelling within the gameplay.

Young people are encouraged to take 
ownership over the RPG resources and 
organise themselves independently, with 
staff available to assist newcomers. The 
library as a public meeting space is a 
safe, neutral place for young people who 
may be feeling anxious or excluded to 
develop confidence in social settings.

At the time of writing this case study, the 
Game Night Takeover program has run for 
five months and seen consistent growth 
in attendance every time. An estimated 
90% of attendees return for the following 
month or for future sessions, indicating 
that we are facilitating a valuable 
experience for young people in our 
community.

From speaking with the young people 
that attend the program, few had been 
into the library space before (including 
the previous Ivanhoe Library building) 
and had no knowledge about the free 
resources that library membership 
provides. The program has shown 
remarkable success in delivering social 
connection, with participants sharing 
contact information on platforms such as 
WhatsApp or Discord to continue talking 
and playing outside the Game Night 
Takeover.

This program creates an excellent 
partnership with local youth services 
and provides a clear pathway for young 
people’s growth and individuality as they 
discover a sense of belonging in library 
spaces.

Scott Mundell 
Reading, Learning & Community 
Coordinator 
Ivanhoe Library and Cultural Hub 
Yarra Plenty Regional Library
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From Storytime to Baby Café 
at Thomastown Library
At Yarra Plenty Regional Library 
(YPRL), supporting early years literacy 
development is a key part of our 
Library Plan. We are always striving to 
improve early years literacy outcomes 
for our communities. For years, regular 
Storytime activities at our branches 
have been at the core of our early 
literacy programming, but with frequent 
COVID-19 restrictions and lockdowns, 
our communities have faced many 
barriers attending Storytime sessions. 
Library staff observed that the decrease 
in socialisation resulting from the 
pandemic has led to delays in language 
acquisition and the development of social 
skills in young children. This has, in turn, 
increased anxiety in some parents and 
carers and highlighted the need for an 
increased understanding of childhood 
developmental milestones in the wider 
community. 

Using a codesign approach, YPRL staff 
partnered with local families, Maternal 
and Child Health (MCH) and City of 
Whittlesea Family Services to investigate 

the early literacy needs of the community, 
and how we could redesign storytime to 
best meet these needs. We discovered 
that some members of the community 
found the phrase ‘storytime’ off-putting. 
Families suggested it be renamed to 
Baby Café, as this was more evocative 
of the experience had when parents and 
newborns come together to socialise, 
play, and learn at the library. So, library 
staff redesigned Storytime sessions 
to keep the early literacy benefits of 
storytime, including language and brain 
development, but also incorporate the 
requested new features of Baby Café.

These new Baby Café sessions still offer 
stories, singing and rhyming, but these 
elements are shorter than our previous 
storytime sessions. Instead, guest 
speakers such as speech pathologists, 
developmental and sleep specialists 
are regularly brought in. Families are 
also given regular information on the 
importance of reading, talking, singing, 
and playing with their children, and 
practical tips to best support their early 
literacy development. Toys are often put 
out for play sessions. Parents and carers 
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stay and socialise over tea and coffee 
after the main session is complete and 
will often stay for hours.

These Baby Café sessions are heavily 
supported by MCH and City of Whittlesea 
Family Services. Listening to community 
and working with partners has led to 
creating a YPRL program that is relevant 
and responsive. Partnering with MCH 
and Family Services means that we can 
all offer the families in our communities 
more relevant information in ways they 
want to consume.

The Baby Café format has been a 
successful pilot. It will continue at 
Thomastown Library and may run in a 
modified form at other YPRL branches. 
It is flexible enough that it can adapt 
to changing community needs. Local 
families are more connected, both with 
the library and each other, and have 
been empowered with greater health and 
literacy information.

Coralie Kouvelas 
Branch Manager 
Thomastown Library 
Yarra Plenty Regional Library

‘Attending Baby Café with 
Storytime, professional 
information and fun has been 
wonderful. I never knew how 
important reading and rhyme 
was for my little one.’
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Dreamtime Sky at 
Eltham Library
Yarra Plenty Regional Library (YPRL) 
is always seeking to strengthen our 
connections to First Nations communities 
and expand our sense of place and 
cultural heritage, acknowledging and 
celebrating the traditional owners of the 
land our libraries are built on. At Eltham 
Library, we saw an opportunity to add 
Indigenous artwork to our Children’s 
Garden. We sought a Community Support 
Grant through the Nillumbik Shire Council, 
and received material donations from 
Bunnings and Inspirations Paints in Eltham 
to make the project possible.

Talented local artist and Wurundjeri and 
Yorta Yorta woman Simone Thomson 
was selected to create the mural. Simone 
has created numerous artworks for 
public and private spaces and has a 
strong understanding of how art can tell 
the cultural narrative of a place and its 
community.

Work on the mural began in 2019 but 
was interrupted by repeated COVID-19 
lockdowns. Once progress continued, 
we shared updates of the mural’s 
development with the community through 
Facebook. Dreamtime Sky was completed 
and in place in the garden at Eltham 
Library, on Wurundjeri land, in 2021. 

The finished mural depicts shared 
moieties ancestors of the Kulin Nations, 
with people, animals and stories of the 
land and river. There are gumtrees to 
represent the Wurundjeri people. The 
copper butterfly represents Eltham; this 
special butterfly flutters beneath the 
joined circles that stretch across the sky. 
The circles represent the community who 
come to gather at the place which we call 
Yarra Plenty Regional Library.

When children returned to the library 
after restrictions eased, we celebrated 
with a special Nature Play event inspired 
by the animals in the mural. Children 
explored the local flora with a long paper 
‘serpent’ that they decorated with leaves, 
flowers, and bark to make The Rainbow 
Serpent. The mural encourages children 
to be outside in nature and it is lovely to 
see the mural, garden and the history of 
the land being used together to teach the 
next generation the rich history of the 
land and the culture that has resided on it 
for millenniums.

The reaction and feedback to the 
mural have been extraordinarily strong, 
especially from children who enjoy 
identifying all the different animals. 
Families can now enjoy the native garden 
even more with the addition of the mural 
to the back fence. The striking colours, 
and the fitting location in the garden work 
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beautifully as a visual reminder of the 
history of the land on which the library 
sits as a community gathering place and 
pays respects to the traditional owners of 
the land.

The mural’s launch has been long 
anticipated and will finally take place in 
July 2022, with Elder Uncle Ringo Terrick 
to deliver a Welcome to Country and 
Smoking Ceremony. Simone Thomson 
will speak, giving insights to her painting 
process and choice of animals and 
symbols depicted, and there will be a 
morning tea provided by Bunji Catering, 
a First Nations business serving gourmet 
native cuisine.

‘It’s warm and welcoming, 
I feel at home and have a 
feeling of ownership and 
connection to it.’ 

Cath Hart 
Community Coordinator 
Eltham Library 
Yarra Plenty Regional Library

Roslyn Quin 
Library Officer 
Eltham Library 
Yarra Plenty Regional Library



‘Everyone who uses the 
library is equitable. It 
provides a safe place for 
those needing a leg up 
or who are new to the 
community, no matter your 
stage of life.’

‘The library is one of the 
only places I can access 
on my own and is essential 
for my independence and 
mental health.’

‘I can read things I’d 
never be able to afford 
to buy, and learn about 
books I otherwise 
wouldn’t be aware of.’

‘I don’t know how I 
would survive without 
my local library.’
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